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METALCORP GROUP

WHO WE ARE

MetalČoƑp2GƑoup2BV2is2a2diǄeƑsiied2metals2and2mineƑals2ĳƑoup2ǅith2aČtiǄities2
that2span2pƑoduČtion,2pƑoČessinĳ,2maƑketinĳ2and2tƑadinĳ2oĲ2ĲeƑƑous2and2non-
ĲeƑƑous2metals.

Estaċlished2 in2 ȃȁȁ6,2 the2 MetalČoƑp2 GƑoup2 Čomċines2 ċoth2 pƑoduČtion2
and2 pƑoČessinĳ2 units2 and2 tƑade2 and2maƑketinĳ2 opeƑations2 to2 deliǄeƑ2 Čost2
eĲĲeČtiǄe2metals,2mineƑals2and2inished2pƑoduČts2to2inteƑnational2ČustomeƑs.2
HeadƐuaƑteƑed2in2AmsteƑdam,2the2ĳƑoup2opeƑates2aČƑoss2Ȃ82ČountƑies2ĲƑom2
ȃȂ2loČations.

MetalČoƑp2 emploǋs2 a2 sustainaċle2 ċusiness2 appƑoaČh2 ĲoČussed2 on2
diǄeƑsiiČation,2Čost2ČontƑol2and2Ƒisk2aǄoidanČe.2With2stƑonĳ2maƑket2knoǅledĳe,2
ouƑ2diǄeƑsiied2opeƑations2ČoǄeƑ2a2ǄaƑietǋ2oĲ2pƑoduČt2ČateĳoƑies2enaċlinĳ2the2
ĳƑoup2to2opeƑate2 in2ċoth2estaċlished2and2niČhe2seČtoƑs.2As2ċoth2pƑoduČeƑ2
and2maƑketeƑ,2ǅe2ċƑinĳ2toĳetheƑ2the2Čapaċilities2oĲ2the2ĳƑoup2to2pƑoǄide2Ǆalue2
to2ouƑ2inteƑnational2ČustomeƑs2and2supplieƑs.

We2 pƑoduČe2 ĲeƑƑous2 and2 non-ĲeƑƑous2 pƑoduČts2 in2 stƑateĳiČallǋ2 loČated2
pƑoduČtion2 sites2 and2 inǄest2 in2 eneƑĳǋ2 eĲiČient2 ĲaČilities2 and2 teČhnoloĳǋ2
enhanČements.2 Value2 is2 ČƑeated2 thƑouĳh2 Čost2 ČompetitiǄe2 pƑoduČtion2
methods,2ƑeduČinĳ2stoČk2held2and2minimisinĳ2pƑiČe2and2ČuƑƑenČǋ2Ƒisks.2

OuƑ2tƑadinĳ2and2maƑketinĳ2opeƑations2speČialise2in2phǋsiČal2tƑade2oĲ2metals,2
mineƑals2and2Ƒaǅ2mateƑials.2We2seČuƑe,2insuƑed,2ċaČk-2to2ċaČk2tƑansaČtions,2
aǄoidinĳ2pƑiČe2and2ČuƑƑenČǋ2Ƒisks.2WoƑkinĳ2ǅith2lonĳ-teƑm2oĲĲtake2paƑtneƑs2
thƑouĳh2 a2 ǅell-estaċlished2 tƑadinĳ2 and2 distƑiċution2 netǅoƑk2 ǅe2 enaċle2
aČČess2to2inteƑnational2maƑkets.

With2deČades2oĲ2pƑoduČtion,2tƑadinĳ2and2maƑketinĳ2eǊpeƑienČe2in2the2ĲeƑƑous2
and2non-2ĲeƑƑous2seČtoƑs2ǅe2aƑe2aċle2to2Čonsistentlǋ2deliǄeƑ2Ǆalue2in2Čhanĳinĳ2
maƑket2Čonditions.
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FERROUS METALS DIVISION

+ 50
YEARS

+ 300
EMPLOYEES

+ 18
COUNTRIES

METALCORP GROUP

AT A GLANCE

MetalČoƑp2 GƑoup2 is2 a2 diǄeƑsiied2 metals2 and2 mineƑals2 ĳƑoup2 ǅith2
aČtiǄities2 that2 span2 pƑoduČtion2 and2 pƑoČessinĳ,2 to2 maƑketinĳ2 and2
tƑadinĳ.

OuƑ2ċusiness2is2oƑĳanised2ǅithin2tǅo2diǄisions:2
FeƑƑous2and2Non-FeƑƑous2Metals.2

+50
years

in operation

+60 
years

in operation

12 Oices

4 Continents

+ 60
years

in operation

+ 20
years

in operation

+10
years

in operation

300
million tons
of bauxite

3 Oices

3 Continents

NON-FERROUS METALS DIVISION

STEELCOM GROUP
Monaco, Vienna, Essen, Zug, Houston, São Paulo, 

Madrid, Dubai, Belgrade, Mumbai, Singapore and 

Beijing

NIKOLAIDIS TH. BROS
Thessaloniki, Greece 

STEEL
TRADING & MARKETING

STEEL
PRODUCTION

TENNANT METALS GROUP
Monaco, Sydney, Johannesburg

BAGR BERLINER 
ALUMINIUMWERK
Berlin, Germany

STOCKACH ALU
Stockach, Germany

NON-FERROUS
TRADING & MARKETING

ALUMINIUM
PRODUCTION

SOCIÉTÉ DES BAUXITES DE GUINÉE
Conakry, Guinea

CABLE RECYCLING INDUSTRIES
Bilbao, Spain

BAUXITE & ALUMINA
MINING & PRODUCTION

COPPER
PRODUCTION

+10
years

in operation
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REVENUES

593 M€

GROSS PROFIT

47 M€

OPERATING
PROFIT

31 M€

EQUITY

139 M€

EBITDA

32 M€

METALCORP GROUP

KEY DATA

Acquisition of BAGR Berliner 

Aluminiumwerk GmbH, Secondary 
Aluminium Producer - Germany

2000

Expansion of Steelcom network in 

Dubai, Brazil, India and the USA

Since 
2006

Acquisition of Tennant Metals
Non-Ferrous Trading & Marketing

2011

2013 Acquisition of share in Cable 
Recycling Industries "CRI", 

Copper Scrap Recycler - Spain

Expansion of Tennant Metals 

network in Europe, Asia and Africa

Since 
2012

2014 Full acquisition of CRI

Acquisition of Nikolaïdis
Steel pipe producer - Greece

2015

2016

2017

SBG, Mining concession of 
502km2 granted for 25 years

Steelcom development & integration of 

automative supply chain business

Acquisition of stakes in Stockach Alu, 

Secondary Aluminium Producer - Germany

- Formation of  Metalcorp Group
- Acquisition of Steelcom, 

Ferrous Trading & Marketing
2006

Société des Bauxites de Guinée 
"SBG", 300 million tons of Bauxite 

identiied2- Guinea

2010

METALCORP GROUP

TIMELINE
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Greece

Monaco

UK

USA

Brazil

India

Germany Spain

Switzerland

China

Austria

Singapore

Metalcorp Group is a ĳloċal2and2diǄeƑsiied2metals2and2mineƑals2
ĳƑoup,2ǅith2a2stƑateĳiČ2poƑtĲolio2oĲ2assets2aČƑoss2the2ǅoƑld.

South Africa

Australia

Guinea

Netherlands, HQ

Serbia

UAE - Dubai

TRADING DESKS & ASSETS

METALCORP GROUP

GLOBAL PRESENCE
18

COUNTRIES

21

LOCATIONS
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OuƑ2StƑateĳǋ2is2ċased2on2iǄe2keǋ2suČČess2ĲaČtoƑs

OuƑ2 diǄeƑsiied2model2 and2wide product range 
ƑeduČes2 ouƑ2 eǊposuƑe2 to2 Čhanĳes2 in2 demand2 oƑ2
ƑelianČe2on2a2sinĳle2seƑǄiČe2oĲĲeƑinĳ.2We2ČonduČt2
ċusiness2 in2 ċoth2 large and niche markets2 and2
opeƑate2 ċetǅeen2 laƑĳe2 tƑadinĳ2 houses2 and2 loČal2
small2sized2plaǋeƑs.

We2 avoid risk2 ǅithin2 ouƑ2 ċusiness2 model.2
OpeƑatinĳ2 a2 risk averse trading strategy,2 ǅe2
seČuƑe2 lonĳ-teƑm2 oĲĲtake2 aĳƑeements2 and2 aǄoid2
pƑiČe2and2ČuƑƑenČǋ2Ƒisks.2OuƑ2pƑoduČtion2pƑoĳƑams2
aƑe2ĳoǄeƑned2ċǋ2customer-led demand2and2ǅe2
pƑoČuƑe2Ƒaǅ2mateƑials2on2oƑdeƑs,2minimisinĳ2ǅaste2
and2enaċlinĳ2Čost2eĲĲeČtiǄe2planninĳ.2

01

02

Diversiication

Risk Averse

METALCORP GROUP

STRATEGY

We2 maintain2 long term partnerships2 ǅith2
ČustomeƑs2and2supplieƑs.2We2oĲĲeƑ2seƑǄiČes2suČh2
as2 loĳistiČs2 and2 tƑanspoƑt2 and2 Ĳulil2 the2needs2oĲ2
supplieƑs2 and2 ČustomeƑs2 ǅho2 do2 not2 haǄe2 the2
eƐuiǄalent2 inteƑnal2 Čapaċilitǋ,2 theƑeċǋ2makinĳ2 us2
a2 pƑeĲeƑƑed2 paƑtneƑ2 and2 stƑenĳtheninĳ2 ouƑ2 lonĳ-
teƑm2Ƒelationships. 

We2haǄe2a2broad asset base2inČludinĳ2pƑoduČtion,2
pƑoČessinĳ2and2ƑeČǋČlinĳ2ĲaČilities2eaČh2in2stƑateĳiČ2
loČations.2 OuƑ2 tƑadinĳ2 and2 maƑketinĳ2 diǄisions2
ċeneit2 ĲƑom2 a2 sophistiČated2 loĳistiČs2 and2
distƑiċution2netǅoƑk.2

We2 haǄe2 siĳniiČant2 execution capabilities 
inČludinĳ2 pƑoduČtion2 ĲaČilities,2 seČtoƑ2 knoǅledĳe2
and2ƑesouƑČes.2LeǄeƑaĳinĳ2ouƑ2network2enaċles2us2
to2take2adǄantaĳe2oĲ2Čhanĳinĳ2demand2and2supplǋ2
oppoƑtunities.2OuƑ2scale and global reach2ĳiǄes2
us2insiĳht2into2maƑket2loǅs2that2ǋield2competitive 
advantage.

03

04

05

Infrastructure

Partnerships

Know-how
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METALCORP GROUP

BUSINESS MODEL

 ▪ We avoid risk by executing “back-to-back “trading transactions.

 ▪ Price risk is mitigated by using the same reference price and currency both on the supply and on the sell side 

thereby avoiding price speculation. Any differences between reference prices and/or currencies are mitigated 

through non-speculative hedging strategies. 

 ▪ Transportation of materials is fully insured and we maintain relationships with leading insurance and trade credit 

companies

Customer
Raw Material

Supplier
MCG

Financing

Market price ./.

TraŶsaĐioŶ fee
Market price

Sales OrderPurchase Order

 ▪ Our production units avoid risk through “back-to-back” transactions.  

 ▪ Input2mateƑial2 aƑe2 pƑoČuƑed2 onlǋ2ǅhen2 sales2 oƑdeƑs2 aƑe2 ČoniƑmed2 ċǋ2 the2 ČustomeƑs2 and2ǅe2 use2 the2 same2
ƑeĲeƑenČe2pƑiČe2 to2 loČk2 in2 ĳƑoss2maƑĳins2 and2ǅe2mitiĳate2 the2 impaČt2 oĲ2 ČuƑƑenČǋ2 and2mateƑial2 pƑiČe2 luČtuations2
through non speculative hedging strategies. 

 ▪ By producing to order we avoid holding excess inventory and cost effective production planning can be 

established up to one year ahead in coordination with our customers.

Raw Material
Supplier

Customer PLANT

Sales Order Purchase Order

Supply and Invoice Invoice MaterialProduction Order

Risk2AǄeƑse
Business2Model

TRADING & MARKETING

PRODUCTION
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MetalČoƑp’s2aČtiǄities2deliǄeƑ2ċeneits2to2ouƑ2stakeholdeƑs2and2
to2ǅideƑ2soČietǋ.2

ENVIRONMENT

Metalcorp Group plants in Berlin, Bilbao and 

Stockach recycle scrap and waste metal into high 

grade products that can be used for a wide variety 

of applications. 

Our approach saves on energy consumption, using 

less energy than primary production methods and 

also plays a vital role in the conservation of raw 

materials.

Our operational plants and mills have implemented 

energy management systems and we invest 

in2 teČhnoloĳǋ2 to2 maǊimise2 the2 eĲiČaČǋ2 oĲ2 ouƑ2
operations.

METALCORP GROUP

SUSTAINABLE BUSINESS SOCIAL

HEALTH & SAFETY

We work with national and local governments to manage our corporate social responsibility.

We2inǄest2siĳniiČantlǋ2in2suppoƑtinĳ2the2Čommunities2neaƑ2ouƑ2opeƑations2in2diĲĲeƑent2aƑeas2inČludinĳ:2

 ▪ Health

 ▪ Infrastructure

 ▪ Education & Training

Metalcorp Group takes a proactive approach to Health and Safety.

 ▪ OuƑ2pƑoduČtion2sites2Čomplǋ2ǅith2national2and2inteƑnational2health2and2saĲetǋ2laǅs2and2hold2ƑeleǄant2ČeƑtiiČations.

 ▪ OuƑ2staĲĲ2aƑe2tƑained2to2meet2speČiiČ2ƑeƐuiƑements.2

 ▪ We focus on risk management and share good practice across the Group.

We previously invested in two "SEUTHE" production lines at our Nikolaïdis steel production site, increasing the 

pƑoduČtion2eĲiČienČǋ2and2eneƑĳǋ2use.2
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STEELCOM GROUP

FERROUS METALS

TRADING & MARKETING CORE PRODUCTS

SteelČom2 is2 a2 leadinĳ2 steel2 seƑǄiČe2 pƑoǄideƑ2 ċeneittinĳ2
from an established global presence, comprehensive 
product coverage as well as extensive logistics 
capabilities.

The core business of Steelcom is trading steel and steel-
related raw materials and supply chain management in 
the ferrous sector.

Estaċlished2sinČe2:

1958

LoČations:

Monaco (Headquarters), 
Germany, Austria, USA, Brazil, 
China, UAE, Spain, Serbia, India 
and Switzerland.

 ▪ MeƑČhant2ċaƑs2&2pƑoiles
 ▪ Structural sections

 ▪ Reinforcement bars

 ▪ Wire rods

 ▪ Hot rolled plates

 ▪ Hot rolled coils, sheets & strips

 ▪ Cold rolled coils, sheets & strips

 ▪ Pre-Painted & galvanised products

 ▪ Hot rolled coils, strips & plates

 ▪ Hot dipped galvanized sheets

 ▪ Cold rolled sheets

 ▪ Pipes

 ▪ Tubes

 ▪ Hollow sections

 ▪ Slabs

 ▪ Billets

LONG PRODUCTS

SEMI-FINISHED PRODUCTS

OIL & GAS INDUSTRY PRODUCTS

FLAT PRODUCTS

AUTOMOTIVE PRODUCTS

 ▪ Iron ore

 ▪ Hot briquetted iron

 ▪ Coking coal

RAW MATERIALS
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SPECIAL PROFILES HOT DIP GALVANISED PRODUCTS

WATER STEEL TUBES GAS TUBES "NIKOL GAS"

STEEL FIRE PROTECTION TUBES

HOLLOW SECTIONS

TUBES FOR CONSTRUCTION

OTHER TUBE FORMS

NIKOLAIDIS TH. BROS S.A.

Nikolaïdis2 pƑoduČes2 a2 diǄeƑsiied2 Ƒanĳe2 oĲ2 hiĳh-Ɛualitǋ2
steel pipes and tubes from a strategically positioned 
location near one of the largest ports in the Aegean Sea. 

Nikolaïdis has built on long standing production 
eǊpeƑienČe;2it2ċoasts2a2neǅ2and2eĲiČient2maČhine2paƑk,2its2
own galvanizing facilities and two production lines from 
"VAI SEUTHE", one of the world’s leading welded pipe 
line manufacturers.

Founded2in2:2ȂȊȇȄ

LoČation:

Thessaloniki, Greece

CapaČitǋ2:2Ȃȁȁ,ȁȁȁ2mts

FERROUS METALS

PRODUCTION / STEEL CORE PRODUCTS
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TENNANT METALS GROUP

NON-FERROUS2METALS
TRADING & MARKETING

TeŶŶaŶt Metals trade aŶd ŵarket ŶoŶ-ferrous produĐts. 

TeŶŶaŶt Metals speĐialise iŶ the physiĐal supply of ŶoŶ-
ferrous produĐts iŶ the forŵ of reiŶed ŵetals, ores aŶd 
ĐoŶĐeŶtrates. 

Together ǁith the Group’s produĐioŶ assets aŶd loŶg-
staŶdiŶg oftake agreeŵeŶts, TeŶŶaŶt is a strategiĐ 
partŶer for its suppliers aŶd Đustoŵers. 

TeŶŶaŶt Metals also proǀide iŶaŶĐial aŶd logisiĐal 
soluioŶs.

OperaiŶg SiŶĐe : 

1955

LoĐaioŶs:

MoŶaĐo, SydŶey, JohaŶŶesďurg

Tennant Metals markets a broad product portfolio from base metals, ores and concentrates to ferroalloys.

We2aČtiǄelǋ2tƑade2Ƒeined2ċase2metals2ǅith2a2paƑtiČulaƑ2

focus on zinc, copper, tin, aluminium and nickel. 

We supply primary as well as secondary produced 

metals. 

We market a range of non-ferrous ores and concentrates, 

predominantly copper, lead, tin and zinc. 

We2mainlǋ2supplǋ2smelteƑs2and2ƑeineƑs.

We trade and market ferro chrome, silicon manganese 

and ferro manganese.

CORE PRODUCTS

BASE METALS

ORES & CONCENTRATES

FERROALLOYS
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BAGR BERLINER ALUMINIUMWERK "BAGR"

NON-FERROUS2METALS
PRODUCTION / ALUMINIUM

BAGR is one of the leading independent aluminium slab 
producers in Europe.

The plant is an integral partner for its customers in the toll 
conversion of secondary aluminium into alloyed slabs for 
rolling mills and precision plate manufacturers. 

Founded2in2:2ȂȊȊȈ

LoČation:

Berlin, Germany

CapaČitǋ2:2Ȋȁ,ȁȁȁ2mts

STOCKACH ALU

Stockach Aluminium is a secondary aluminium slab 
producer. 

The company provides toll-conversion services for 
ǄaƑious2 sČƑap2 mateƑials2 oĲĲeƑinĳ2 Čost-2 eĲiČient2 and2
environmentally conscious solutions.

Founded2in2:2ȃȁȁȈ

LoČation:

Stockach, Germany

CapaČitǋ2:2Ȇȁ,ȁȁȁ2mts

ALUMINIUM
SLABS

PRODUCERS
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CABLE RECYCLING INDUSTRIES "CRI"

NON-FERROUS2METALS
PRODUCTION / COPPER

CRI is a copper scrap recycler with a strong European 
customer base.

The2 plant2 is2 an2 eneƑĳǋ2 eĲiČient2 ČonǄeƑtoƑ,2 pƑoČessinĳ2
scrap copper into high quality copper granulates, with an 
emphasis on minimising waste.

CORE PRODUCTS

InČoƑpoƑated2sinČe2:2ȃȁȂȃ

LoČation:

Bilbao, Spain

CapaČitǋ2:2Ȅȁ,ȁȁȁ2mts

High quality copper granulates used in the production of copper cathodes, brass foundry products, and copper 

based alloys.

We are able to tailor both grain size and quality range according to customer requirements.
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SOCIÉTÉ DES BAUXITES DE GUINÉE "SBG"

NON-FERROUS2METALS
RAW MATERIALS

SBG is an integrated bauxite and alumina processing 
project. 

The SBG holds 25 year mining concession for a bauxite 
deposit in the Republic of Guinea.

PROJECT

LoČation:

Conakry, Guinea

Mining ConČession2: 

502 square km granted 

for 25 years

HIGH QUALITY BAUXITE

JORC Compliant Resource of 300 million tons of bauxite with 

alumina content higher than 41% and silica level of less than 

2.7%

INTEGRATED ALUMINA REFINERY

The2alumina2ƑeineƑǋ2ǅill2pƑoduČe2Ȃ.ȇ2million2tons2peƑ2annum2oĲ2
alumina2ĲoƑ2eǊpoƑt,2usinĳ2the2BaǋeƑ2Ƒeininĳ2pƑoČess

Developing an integrated bauxite and alumina project including 

a2ƑeineƑǋ,2ǅith2plans2to2:

 ▪ produce 3Mtpa of high grade bauxite

 ▪ process 1.6Mtpa of alumina
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METALCORP GROUP

BUSINESS PERFORMANCE01 BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

The2 ĳƑoss2 pƑoit2 oĲ2 the2 GƑoup2 has2 impƑoǄed2 to2 Ȉ,Ȋ%2
compared to 7,7% last year. The gross margin of the 

Non-ferrous trading division has increased from 4,9% 

to 6,0%. Despite lower sales prices, the volume of the 

business continues to increase. The Ferrous trading 

diǄision2impƑoǄed2its2nominal2maƑĳin2siĳniiČantlǋ2ĲƑom2
EUR 4,3 million to EUR 16,3 million, whilst the margin 

slightly fell from 8,7% in 2016 to 8,6% in 2017. 

The solvency (total group equity divided by the balance 

sheet total) at the balance sheet date decreased from 

34,9% in 2016 to 32% in 2017, mainly due to the 

increase in activities and the corresponding increase 

in self-liquidating Trade Finance as included in current 

liaċilities.2TƑade2FinanČe2is2utilized2to2inanČe2the2deals2
of the Trading division and lead to a corresponding 

increase in inventory and accounts receivable, which 

are both pledged to the Trade Finance Banks. When 

receivables are paid by our customers, our Company 

ƑeČeiǄes2the2pƑoit2made2on2these2deals2and2the2TƑade2
Finance facility is repaid. The solvency excluding self-

liquidating Trade Finance (reference is made to note 14 

to2the2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statementsɛ2is2Ȅȇ,Ȅ%2at2ȄȂ2
December 2017.

The2taċle2ċeloǅ2pƑoǄides2a2seĳmented2oǄeƑǄieǅ2oĲ2the2ReǄenue2and2GƑoss2pƑoit2ɚɨGMɩɛ2oĲ2the2Companǋ:22

The Company has leveraged on the developments of 

the past years and was again able to further grow its 

business regardless of the challenging markets. The 

fundaments of the growth that the Company shows 

year over year lie in the risk-averse strategy that 

MetalČoƑp2applies:2the2ĳƑoss2pƑoit2on2deals2is2loČked2in2
independent of the market prices, whilst other market 

participants take positions that lead ultimately to a 

price risk. 

On the corporate level, the Company secured the 

repayment of the 2013-2018 bond that is listed on 

the Frankfurt Exchange through the placement of two 

ċonds:2 On2 the2 SČandinaǄian2maƑkets2 EUR2 Ȉȁ2million2
was raised and a new placement on the German market 

of EUR 50 million. Out of this EUR 120 million raising, 

EUR  31,8 million was already used to buy back and 

exchange the 2013-2018 bond so that an amount of 

EUR 43,2 million remains at 31 December 2017. This 

remaining amount is to be repaid on 27 June 2018 and 

is partially secured through the amount of EUR 23,8 

million that is blocked on an escrow account.

On the Ferrous side, the Company acquired two key 

teams in European supply-chain business in Q3 2016. 

In2ȃȁȂȈ2the2Companǋ2has2ċeneited2ĲƑom2the2oƑĳaniČ2
growth that resulted as the company has a full year 

performance in its books instead of only a few months 

in 2016.

On the Non-Ferrous side, Metalcorp has further 

developed existing and initiated new multi-year offtake 

aĳƑeements2 in2 speČiiČ2 maƑkets2 suČh2 as2 ĲeƑƑoČhƑome2
and copper. Furthermore, the industrial base of the 

Non-ferrous production is expanded through the 

acquisition of Alu Stockach GmbH, a similar plant as 

BAGR based in the south of Germany with a capacity 

of 40.000 tons of manganese and magnesium alloyed 

aluminium slabs.

Revenue GM Result 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-ferrous

- Trading       280 989       308 076         15 033         14 964          6 268          5 933 

- Production       114 678         54 125         11 389           4 954          7 555          1 645 

Total Non-ferrous       395 667       362 201         26 422         19 918        13 823          7 578 

Ferrous

- Trading       190 176         50 037         16 313           4 357          2 188          1 056 

- Production           2 637              803               -21             -288                -           -1 018 

Total Ferrous       192 813         50 840         16 292           4 069          2 188               38 

Other           4 208           9 516           4 208           8 345         -2 886          1 120 

Total       592 688       422 557         46 922         32 332        13 125          8 736 
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METALCORP GROUP

OUTLOOK01

The Company will further explore and develop niche markets as well in the ferrous and the non-ferrous area of 

products. Furthermore, the Company continues to explore distressed assets that become available due to the market 

circumstances. 

Several assets are on the radar of the Company and it is expected that at least one plant will be added in the course 

of 2018. 

A major contribution is expected from the Company’s industrial activities in the production of aluminium, copper 

granulates and the pipe and tube plant. The Company will continue to further develop the synergies between the 

different divisions and its global network.

The2lonĳ-teƑm2inanČinĳ2and2shoƑt-teƑm2ċank2ĲaČilities2aƑe2in2plaČe2and2the2Ƒelationships2ǅith2these2ċanks2ǅill2ċe2
maintained.2In2oƑdeƑ2to2ĲuƑtheƑ2ĳƑoǅ2the2tƑadinĳ2aČtiǄities,2additional2tƑade2inanČe2ČapaČitǋ2is2ċeinĳ2deǄeloped2ǅith2
the group’s current and new banking relationships.

As over the last years, the Company will ensure that the organization remains lean in terms of headcount. Key 

manaĳement2positions2aƑe2illed2in2ċǋ2peƑsonnel2ǅith2the2ƑeƐuiƑed2eǊpeƑienČe,2ċaČkĳƑound,2and2the2entƑepƑeneuƑial2
spirit and drive to contribute to our growth and success. Additional personnel will only be employed when the 

growth in our activities requires so.

The Company has taken notice of article 166 and 279 Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code which requires the 

Company to consider the balanced composition between male and female members within a (Supervisory) Board. 

Together with the quality of the Directors and/or Supervisory Board member, this will be taken into consideration in 

every appointment. 

GENERAL 

FINANCING

EMPLOYEES 

OUTLOOK
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METALCORP GROUP

RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES01

Amsterdam, April 9th 2018

Pascale Younès

Director

RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES

FLUCTUATION IN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATES

The2Companǋ2inds2its2supplieƑs2and2ČustomeƑs2aČƑoss2the2ĳloċe,2ǅhile2opeƑations2and2opeƑatinĳ2Čosts2aƑe2spƑead2
across several different countries and currencies. Fluctuation in exchange rates, in particular, movements in US 

dollaƑ2and23ustƑalian2dollaƑ2aĳainst2the2euƑo,2maǋ2haǄe2a2mateƑial2impaČt2on2the2Companǋɫs2inanČial2Ƒesults.2Note2
that2ouƑ2ċusiness2 is2mainlǋ2eǊeČuted2on2a2dollaƑ2ċasis2on2 the2puƑČhasinĳ,2sellinĳ2as2ǅell2as2 the2inanČinĳ2side.2 IĲ2
currency is not naturally hedged through back-to-back deals, the exposure is hedged through adequate instruments.

The2tƑadinĳ2aČtiǄities2aƑe2dependent2on2tƑade2inanČinĳ2 lines2aǄailaċilitǋ.2We2haǄe2siĳniiČant2unČommitted2tƑade2
lines2ǅith2majoƑ2ċanks.2These2tƑade2inanČinĳ2lines2aƑe2unČommitted2ċǋ2natuƑe2and,2theƑeĲoƑe,2no2ĳuaƑantee2Čan2ċe2
ĳiǄen2that2tƑades2pƑesented2to2these2ċanks2ǅill2ċe2Ĳunded.2HoǅeǄeƑ,2all2pƑesented2deals2thus2ĲaƑ2aƑe2inanČed2ċǋ2the2
banks.

FINANCING, CASH FLOWS AND LIQUIDITY

The2maƑket2pƑiČes2ĲoƑ2the2ǄaƑious2ċase2metals2aƑe2Ǆolatile2and2Čannot2ċe2inluenČed2neitheƑ2ČontƑolled.2InǄentoƑies2
aƑe2theƑeĲoƑe2suċjeČt2to2Ǆaluation2Čhanĳes,2ǅhiČh2maǋ2haǄe2a2mateƑial2impaČt2on2the2Companǋ´s2inanČial2Ƒesults.2
However, the Company enters into back-to-back deals in which serves as a natural hedge that “locks” the market 

pƑiČe,2so2that2the2Companǋ2is2not2eǊposed2to2pƑiČe2luČtuations.2In2Čases2ǅheƑe2the2Companǋ2is2not2ČoǄeƑed2ċǋ2this2
natuƑal2hedĳe,2the2pƑiČe2Ƒisk2is2mitiĳated2ċǋ2applǋinĳ2adeƐuate2inanČial2instƑuments.

PRICE VOLATILITY

The Company’s operations and projects span numerous countries, some of which have more complex, less stable 

political or social climates and consequently higher country risk. Political risks include changes in laws, taxes or 

royalties, expropriation of assets, currency restrictions or renegotiation of, or changes to, mining leases and permits. 

Similarly, communities in certain regions may oppose mining activities for various reasons. Any of these factors 

Čould2haǄe2an2adǄeƑse2impaČt2on2the2Companǋɫs2pƑoitaċilitǋ2in2a2ČeƑtain2ĳeoĳƑaphiČ2Ƒeĳion2oƑ2at2ČeƑtain2opeƑations.2
However, so far the Company has not experienced those problems.

COUNTRY RISKS, POLITICAL, COMMUNITY AND FISCAL INTERVENTION

Other risks facing the Company include performance risk on offtake agreements; quality of commodities traded and 

pƑoduČed,2Čompetition,2enǄiƑonmental2and2insuƑanČe2Ƒisks2and2unČeƑtaintǋ2oĲ2additional2inanČinĳ.2These2Ƒisks2and2
the mitigating measures are monitored and managed by the Company on a regular basis and appropriate action is 

taken whenever this is required.

OTHER RISKS

The2pƑesentation2oĲ2inanČial2 statements2 ƑeƐuiƑes2 the2manaĳement2 to2make2estimations2and2assumptions2ǅhiČh2
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date 

oĲ2the2inanČial2statements2and2ƑepoƑted2amounts2oĲ2ƑeǄenues2and2eǊpenses2duƑinĳ2the2peƑiod.23Čtual2Ƒesults2Čould2
diĲĲeƑ2ĲƑom2those2estimates2impaČted2ċǋ2the2Ĳolloǅinĳ2Ƒisks:
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METALCORP GROUP

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

02

Consolidated statement of income

Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

Consolidated2statement2oĲ2inanČial2position
Consolidated2statement2oĲ2Čash2loǅs
Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Notes2to2the2inanČial2statements
Siĳninĳ2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(before appropriation of result)

EUR 1.000 Note 2017 2016

Continuing Operations

Revenue 2      592 688      422 557 

Cost of sales 2    -545 766    -390 225 

Gross2proit 2        46 922        32 332 

Operating expenses

Selling expenses 3         -4 834         -4 150 

Administrative expenses 3       -10 980         -7 376 

      -15 814       -11 526 

Operatinĳ2proit        31 108        20 806 

Non-operating expenses

Unrealized fair value changes 11               -26               -81 

Financial income and expense 4       -14 359       -10 223 

Net2inanČe2Čost       -14 385       -10 304 

Proit2ċeĲore2taǊ           16 723           10 502 

Income tax expense 5            -3 598            -1 766 

Proit2Ĳrom2Čontinuinĳ2operations           13 125             8 736 

Proit           13 125             8 736 

Proit2attriċutaċle2to:
Equity holders of Metalcorp Group B.V.        13 753           8 353 

Non-controlling interests             -629              383 

          13 125             8 736 



02

C
O

N
S

O
L

ID
A

T
E

D
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L

 S
T
A

T
E

M
E

N
T

S

METALCORP GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2017 .  4342 .  METALCORP GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(before appropriation of result)

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

Proit             13 125             8 736 

Other comprehensive income

Translation differences foreign associated companies                   135                   42 

Total comprehensive income             13 260             8 778 

Total2ČomprehensiǄe2inČome2atrriċutaċle2to:
Equity holders of Metalcorp Group  B.V.             13 588             8 449 

Non-controlling interests                  -328                 329 

Total result             13 260             8 778 

EUR 1.000 Note 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Assets

Non-current assets

Property plant and equipment 6   127 017   121 942 

Intanĳiċle2iǊed2assets 7      35 124      35 379 

FinanČial2iǊed2assets 8              48        4 268 

Total non-current assets   162 189   161 589 

Current assets

Inventories 9      36 180      33 876 

Receivables, prepayments and accrued income 10   180 654   136 335 

Securities 11        6 025        6 051 

Cash and cash equivalents 12      49 694      10 783 

Total current assets   272 553   187 045 

 Total assets   434 742   348 634 

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capital      70 000      70 000 

Reserves and retained earnings      41 592      28 004 

Equity attributable to the owners of the company 13        111 592           98 004 

Non-controlling interest 13      27 440      23 590 

Total equity   139 032   121 594 

Non-current liabilities

Loans and borrowings 14   115 611      75 165 

Deferred tax liabilities 5        3 327        4 935 

Total non-current liabilities   118 938      80 100 

Current liabilities and accruals 14   176 774   146 940 

Total current liabilities   176 774   146 940 

 Total equity and liabilities   434 742   348 634 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(before appropriation of result)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(before appropriation of result)

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

Operatinĳ2proit           31 108           20 806 

3djustments2ĲoƑ:
- Depreciation (and other changes in value)             1 071                 872 

            1 071                 872 

Working capital changes

- Movements trade receivables             6 233         -40 775 

- Movements inventories            -2 304         -15 996 

- Movements on loans receivable            -8 063            -9 905 

- Movements trade payables             3 744           27 650 

- Movements other payables and liabilities             1 806             7 132 

-2MoǄements2tƑade2inanČe         -14 965           18 005 

        -13 549         -13 888 

Interest paid after corporate income tax

Corporate income tax expense on operating activities            -5 207            -1 766 

           -5 207            -1 766 

Cash2loǅ2Ĳrom2operatinĳ2aČtiǄities           13 422             6 024 

InǄestments2in2intanĳiċle2iǊed2assets                     -                 -178 

Investments in property plant and equipment         -11 839            -6 637 

Disposals of property plant and equipment             5 757                     -   

Disposals2oĲ2otheƑ2inanČial2iǊed2assets             4 220                   35 

Disposals of securities                     -                      -4 

Acquisition of non-controlling interests             4 314                     -   

Cash2loǅ2Ĳrom2inǄestment2aČtiǄities             2 452            -6 784 

Receipt of long-term liabilities           83 166             7 823 

Repayment of short term liabilities            -3 472             6 244 

Movements on loans receivable -42 489            -1 653 

OtheƑ2inanČe2inČome             6 900             2 205 

OtheƑ2inanČe2eǊpense            -6 761            -4 218 

Interest received             2 899             1 689 

Interest paid         -17 397            -9 899 

Cash2loǅ2Ĳrom2inanČinĳ2aČtiǄities           22 846             2 191 

Net2Čash2loǅ
Exchange rate and translation differences on movements in cash                 190               -164 

Movements in cash           38 910             1 267 

EUR 1.000
Issued 
share 
capital

Share 
premium

Revaluation 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Other 
reserves

Result for 
the year

Legal 
entity 

share in 
group 
equity

Third-
party 

share in 
group 
equity

Group 
Equity

2016

Opening Balance  70 000     9 628              -            37   4 232    5 871 89 768 23 261 113 029 

Total comprehensive income 
and expense for the period

PƑoit/ɚlossɛ2ĲoƑ2the2peƑiod          -   - - - -   8 353   8 353       383  8 736 

Foreign currency translation 

differences
- - -           77         19            -          96        -54        42 

Total comprehensive income 
and expense for the period

- - -          77        19   8 353   8 449      329     8 778 

Other movements in equity

Allocation of prior year result - - - -    5 871  -5 871           -             -                -   

Other movements in equity - - - -    -213         -       -213            -      -213 

Total other movements in 
equity

- - - -  5 658  -5 871     -213           -      -213 

Total  70 000  9 628               -         114  9 909   8 353 98 004 23 590 121 594 

2017

Opening Balance  70 000     9 628              -           114   9 909  8 353 98 004    23 590 121 594 

Total comprehensive income 
and expense for the period

PƑoit/ɚlossɛ2ĲoƑ2the2peƑiod - - - - - 13 753  13 753     -628 13 125 

Foreign currency translation 

differences
- - - -165    -          -      -165      300       135 

Total comprehensive income 
and expense for the period

- - -       -165 - 13 753 13 588    -328 13 260 

Other movements in equity

Allocation of prior year result     -       -     -     -  8 353 -8 353 - - -

Acquisitions - - - - - - -  4 314   4 314 

Disposals and other - - - - - -       -136       -136 

Total other movements in 
equity

           -                -                  -                 -   8 353  -8 353 
                   

-   
 4 178    4 178 

Total 70 000  9 628                -        -51 18 262 13 753 111 592    27 440 139 032 
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1.1 Corporate information

The activities of Metalcorp Group B.V. (“Metalcorp 

Group” or “the Company”) and its group companies 

primarily consist of the trading and production of 

metals, ores, alloys and related services. The Company 

has its legal seat at Orlyplein 10, 1043 DP Amsterdam, 

the Netherlands, and is registered with the chamber of 

commerce under number 34189604.

The Company was incorporated as a limited liability 

company under the laws of the Netherlands on 14 

April 2003 for the purpose of establishing an industrial 

holding company in the Netherlands. Its ultimate 

shareholder is Cycorp First Investment Ltd. 

The Company has its corporate headquarters in 

Amsterdam, which is also the head of the group 

of legal entities. The consolidated annual accounts 

ČompƑise2the2inanČial2inĲoƑmation2oĲ2the2Companǋ2and2
of its investments in which it exercises a controlling 

interest. These investments are fully included in the 

consolidation.

1.2 Statement of compliance

The2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2 statements2 haǄe2 ċeen2
prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union, 

and its interpretations adopted by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and are in 

compliance with the provisions of the Dutch Civil Code, 

Book 2, Title 9. The above Standards and Interpretations 

aƑe2ČolleČtiǄelǋ2ƑeĲeƑƑed2to2as2ɨIFRSɩ2 in2these2inanČial2
statements. Metalcorp Group is exempted from its 

oċliĳation2to2pƑepaƑe2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statements2
as Cycorp First Investment Ltd. prepares and publishes 

consolidated statements. However the Group has 

ǄoluntaƑilǋ2 deČided2 to2 pƑepaƑe2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2
statements2oǄeƑ2the2inanČial2ǋeaƑ2ȃȁȂȈ.2The2Companǋ-
onlǋ2 inanČial2 statements2 aƑe2 pƑepaƑed2 in2 aČČoƑdanČe2
with Dutch accounting principles and are presented and 

puċlished2 sepaƑatelǋ2 ĲƑom2 the2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2
statements. This statutory company-only annual report 

of Metalcorp Group B.V. prevails over this annual report 

from a legal perspective. The objective of this report is 

to provide an overview of the activities of Metalcorp 

and its subsidiaries.

1.3 Basis of preparation

The2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2 statements2 haǄe2 ċeen2
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain 

pƑopeƑties2and2inanČial2instƑuments2that2aƑe2measuƑed2

at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each 

reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 

below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the 

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 

transaction between market participants at the 

measurement date, regardless of whether that price is 

directly observable or estimated using another valuation 

technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a 

liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics 

of the asset or liability if market participants would take 

those characteristics into account when pricing the 

asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 

for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 

Čonsolidated2 inanČial2 statements2 is2 deteƑmined2 on2
suČh2a2ċasis,2eǊČept2ĲoƑ:

 ▪ leasing transactions that are within the scope of 

IAS 17; and 

 ▪ measurements that have some similarities to fair 

value but are not fair value, such as net realizable value 

in IAS 2 or value in use in IAS 36.

In2addition,2 ĲoƑ2inanČial2 ƑepoƑtinĳ2puƑposes,2 ĲaiƑ2Ǆalue2
measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 

measuƑements2aƑe2oċseƑǄaċle2and2 the2siĳniiČanČe2oĲ2
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, 

ǅhiČh2aƑe2desČƑiċed2as2Ĳolloǅs:

 ▪ Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

entity can access at the measurement date;

 ▪ Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices 

included within Level 1, that are observable for the 

asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and

 ▪ Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 

asset or liability.

1.4 New and revised IFRSs

A number of amendments is effective for annual 

periods that begin on or after 1 January 2017 and 

have been adapted in preparing these consolidated 

inanČial2statements.2None2oĲ2these2amendments2had2a2
siĳniiČant2eĲĲeČt2on2the2inanČial2statements.

The following new and revised IFRSs that are relevant 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

for the Company have been issued but are not yet 

eĲĲeČtiǄe:

 ▪ IFRS 9 regarding Financial Instruments

 ▪ IFRS 15 regarding Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers 

 ▪ IFRS 16 regarding Leases

 ▪ IFRS2ȃ2ƑeĳaƑdinĳ2the2ČlassiiČation2oĲ2shaƑe-ċased2
payments

 

The Directors are currently evaluating the impact these 

new standards and interpretations will have on the 

inanČial2statements2oĲ2MetalČoƑp2GƑoup2B.V.

1.5 Basis of consolidation

The2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2 statements2 inČoƑpoƑate2
the2inanČial2 statements2 oĲ2 the2Companǋ2 and2 entities2
(including structured entities) controlled by the 

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when 

the2Companǋ:

 ▪ has power over the investee;

 ▪ is exposed or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and

 ▪ has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an 

investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 

are changes to one or more of the three elements of 

control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the 

voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 

inǄestee2ǅhen2 the2 Ǆotinĳ2 Ƒiĳhts2 aƑe2 suĲiČient2 to2 ĳiǄe2
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all 

relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether 

or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are 

suĲiČient2to2ĳiǄe2it2poǅeƑ,2inČludinĳ:

 ▪ the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights 

relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 

other vote holders;

 ▪ potential voting rights held by the Company, other 

vote holders or other parties;

 ▪ rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

 ▪ any additional facts and circumstances that indicate 

that the Company has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 

decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at 

previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company 

obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 

when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. 

SpeČiiČallǋ,2 inČome2 and2 eǊpenses2 oĲ2 a2 suċsidiaƑǋ2
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in 

the2Čonsolidated2statement2oĲ2pƑoit2oƑ2 loss2and2otheƑ2
comprehensive income from the date the Company 

gains control until the date when the Company ceases 

to control the subsidiary.

PƑoit2 oƑ2 loss2 and2 eaČh2 Čomponent2 oĲ2 otheƑ2
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of 

the Company and to the non-controlling interests even 

if this results in the non-controlling interests having a 

deiČit2ċalanČe.

When2neČessaƑǋ,2adjustments2aƑe2made2to2the2inanČial2
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 

eǊpenses2 and2 Čash2 loǅs2 Ƒelatinĳ2 to2 tƑansaČtions2
between members of the group are eliminated in full 

on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in 

subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 

control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity 

transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s 

interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted 

to2 ƑeleČt2 the2Čhanĳes2 in2 theiƑ2 ƑelatiǄe2 inteƑests2 in2 the2
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by 

which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and 

the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 

recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners 

of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain 

oƑ2loss2is2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2 loss2and2is2ČalČulated2
as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair 

value of the consideration received and the fair value 

of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying 

amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities 

of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All 

amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 

income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for 

as if the Group had directly disposed of the related 

assets2 oƑ2 liaċilities2 oĲ2 the2 suċsidiaƑǋ2 ɚi.e.2 ƑeČlassiied2
to2pƑoit2oƑ2 loss2oƑ2 tƑansĲeƑƑed2 to2anotheƑ2 ČateĳoƑǋ2oĲ2
eƐuitǋ2as2speČiied/peƑmitted2ċǋ2appliČaċle2IFRSsɛ.2

The fair value of any investment retained in the former 

subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded 

as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent 

accounting under IAS 39, when applicable, the cost on 

initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a 

joint venture.

NOTE 1.
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1.6 Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 

acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 

business combination is measured at fair value, which 

is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair 

values of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities 

incurred by the Group to the former owners of the 

acquiree and the equity interest issued by the Group 

in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-

Ƒelated2Čosts2aƑe2ĳeneƑallǋ2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2 loss2
as incurred.

3t2the2aČƐuisition2date2the2identiiaċle2assets2aČƐuiƑed2
and the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair 

Ǆalue2eǊČept2that:

 ▪ deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or 

liaċilities2Ƒelated2to2emploǋee2ċeneit2aƑƑanĳements2aƑe2
recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 

Income Taxes and IAS 19 respectively;

 ▪ liabilities or equity instruments related to share-

based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-

based payment arrangements of the Group entered 

into to replace share-based payment arrangements of 

the acquiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 at 

the acquisition date; and

 ▪ assets2 ɚoƑ2 disposal2 ĳƑoupsɛ2 that2 aƑe2 Člassiied2 as2
held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are 

measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of 

the consideration transferred the amount of any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value 

of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 

acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date 

amounts2 oĲ2 the2 identiiaċle2 assets2 aČƐuiƑed2 and2 the2
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of 

the2aČƐuisition-date2amounts2oĲ2the2identiiaċle2assets2
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of 

the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of 

the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if 

anǋɛ,2the2eǊČess2is2ƑeČoĳnized2immediatelǋ2in2pƑoit2oƑ2
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership 

interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate 

share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation 

may be initially measured either at fair value or at the 

non-controlling interest proportionate share of the 

ƑeČoĳnized2 amounts2 oĲ2 the2 aČƐuiƑeeɫs2 identiiaċle2 net2
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a 

transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-

controlling interest are measured at fair value or, when 

appliČaċle,2on2the2ċasis2speČiied2in2anotheƑ2IFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in 

a business combination includes assets or liabilities 

resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 

the contingent consideration is measured at its 

acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the 

consideration transferred in a business combination. 

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 

that qualify as measurement period adjustments 

are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding 

adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period 

adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional 

information obtained during the “measurement period” 

(which cannot exceed one year from acquisition date) 

about facts and circumstances that existed at the 

acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair 

value of the contingent consideration that do not 

qualify as measurement period adjustments depends 

on2 hoǅ2 the2 Čontinĳent2 ČonsideƑation2 is2 Člassiied.2
Continĳent2ČonsideƑation2that2is2Člassiied2as2eƐuitǋ2is2
not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates and its 

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

Continĳent2ČonsideƑation2that2 is2Člassiied2as2an2asset2
or a liability is re-measured at subsequent reporting 

dates in accordance with IAS 39, or IAS 37 Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as 

appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being 

ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the 

Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 

is re-measured to its acquisition-date fair value and 

the2Ƒesultinĳ2ĳain2oƑ2loss,2iĲ2anǋ,2is2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree 

prior to the acquisition date that have previously 

been recognized in other comprehensive income are 

ƑeČlassiied2 to2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss2 ǅheƑe2 suČh2 tƑeatment2
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination 

is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in 

which the combination occurs, the Group reports 

provisional amounts for the items for which the 

accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts 

are adjusted during the measurement period (see 

above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognized 

to2 ƑeleČt2 neǅ2 inĲoƑmation2 oċtained2 aċout2 ĲaČts2 and2
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, 

if known, would have affected the amounts recognized 

at that date.

NOTE 1.

1.7 Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is 

carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition 

of the business (see note 1.6.) less accumulated 

impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is 

allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 

(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to 

ċeneit2ĲƑom2the2sǋneƑĳies2oĲ2the2Čomċination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been 

allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 

frequently when there is an indication that the unit 

may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the 

cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, 

the2 impaiƑment2 loss2 is2 alloČated2 iƑst2 to2 ƑeduČe2 the2
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit 

and then to the other assets of the unit pro rate based 

on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any 

impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly 

in2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss.2 3n2 impaiƑment2 loss2 ƑeČoĳnized2 ĲoƑ2
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the 

attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

deteƑmination2oĲ2the2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2on2disposal.

1.8 Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has 

siĳniiČant2inluenČe.2SiĳniiČant2inluenČe2is2the2poǅeƑ2
to2 paƑtiČipate2 in2 the2 inanČial2 and2 opeƑatinĳ2 poliČǋ2
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint 

control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the 

parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint 

control is the contractually agreed sharing of control 

of an arrangement, which exists only when decision 

about the relevant activities require unanimous consent 

of the parties sharing control. The results and assets 

and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are 

inČoƑpoƑated2in2these2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statements2
using the equity method of accounting, except when 

the2inǄestment,2oƑ2a2poƑtion2theƑeoĲ,2is2Člassiied2as2held2
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance 

with IFRS 5. Under the equity method, an investment in 

an associate or a joint venture is initially recognized in 

the2Čonsolidated2statement2oĲ2inanČial2position2at2Čost2
and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share 

oĲ2the2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2and2otheƑ2ČompƑehensiǄe2inČome2oĲ2

the associate or joint venture. When the Group’s share 

of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the 

Group’s interest in that associate or joint venture (which 

includes any long-term interest that, in substance, form 

part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or 

joint venture), the Group discontinues recognizing its 

share of further losses. Additional losses are recognized 

only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 

constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of 

the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or joint venture is 

accounted for using the equity method from the date 

on which the investee becomes an associate or a 

joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an 

associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the 

investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value 

oĲ2the2identiiaċle2assets2and2liaċilities2oĲ2the2 inǄestee2
is recognized as goodwill, which is included within the 

carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the 

GƑoupɫs2 shaƑe2 oĲ2 the2 net2 ĲaiƑ2 Ǆalue2 oĲ2 the2 identiiaċle2
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, 

aĲteƑ2Ƒeassessment,2is2ƑeČoĳnized2immediatelǋ2in2pƑoit2
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 39 are applied to determine 

whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment 

loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an 

associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the 

entire carrying amount of the investment (including 

goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with 

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by 

comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in 

use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying 

amount. Any Impairment loss recognized forms part of 

the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of 

that impairment loss is recognized in accordance with 

IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the 

investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method 

from the date when the investment ceases to be an 

associate or a joint venture or when the investment tis 

Člassiied2as2held2ĲoƑ2sale.2When2the2ĳƑoup2Ƒetains2an2
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the 

Ƒetained2inteƑest2is2a2inanČial2asset,2the2GƑoup2measuƑes2
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair 

value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition 

in accordance with IAS 39. The difference between 

the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture 

at the date the equity method was discontinued, and 

the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds 

from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint 

venture is included in the determination of the gain or 

NOTE 1.
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loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In 

addition the Group accounts for all amounts previously 

recognized in other comprehensive income in relation 

to that associate or joint venture on the same basis 

as would be required if that associate or joint venture 

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. 

Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognized in 

other comprehensive income by that associate or joint 

ǄentuƑe2ǅould2 ċe2 ƑeČlassiied2 to2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss2 on2 the2
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group 

ƑeČlassiies2 the2 ĳain2 oƑ2 loss2 ĲƑom2 eƐuitǋ2 to2 pƑoit2 oƑ2
loss2ɚas2a2ƑeČlassiiČation2adjustmentɛ2ǅhen2the2eƐuitǋ2
method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity method when 

an investment in an associate becomes an investment 

in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture 

becomes an investment in an associate. There is no 

re-measurement to fair value upon such changes in 

ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an 

associate or a joint venture but the Group continues 

to2 use2 the2 eƐuitǋ2 method,2 the2 GƑoup2 ƑeČlassiies2 to2
pƑoit2oƑ2loss2the2pƑopoƑtion2oĲ2the2ĳain2oƑ2loss2that2had2
previously been recognized in other comprehensive 

income relating to that reduction in ownership interest 

iĲ2that2ĳain2oƑ2loss2ǅould2ċe2ƑeČlassiied2to2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a 

joint2ǄentuƑe2oĲ2the2GƑoup,2pƑoits2and2losses2Ƒesultinĳ2
from the transactions with the associate or joint venture 

aƑe2 ƑeČoĳnized2 in2 the2 GƑoupɫs2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2
statements only to the extent of interest in the associate 

or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

1.9 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable. Revenue is 

reduced for estimated customer returns rebates and 

other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognized when the goods are delivered 

and titles have passed, at which time all the following 

Čonditions2aƑe2satisied:

 ▪ the Group has transferred to the buyer the 

siĳniiČant2Ƒisks2and2ƑeǅaƑds2oĲ2oǅneƑship2oĲ2the2ĳoods;
 ▪ the Group retains neither continuing managerial 

involvement to the degree usually associated with 

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

 ▪ the amounts of revenue can be measured reliably;

 ▪ it2is2pƑoċaċlǋ2that2the2eČonomiČ2ċeneits2assoČiated2
ǅith2the2tƑansaČtion2ǅill2loǅ2to2the2GƑoup;
 ▪ the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 

transaction can be measured reliably.

1.10 Leasing

Leases2 aƑe2 Člassiied2 as2 inanČe2 leases2ǅheneǄeƑ2 the2
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are 

Člassiied2as2opeƑatinĳ2leases.

3ssets2held2undeƑ2inanČe2leases2aƑe2initiallǋ2ƑeČoĳnized2
as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 

of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the 

minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability 

to the lessor is included in the consolidated statement 

oĲ2inanČial2position2as2a2inanČe2lease2oċliĳation.

Lease2 paǋments2 aƑe2 appoƑtioned2 ċetǅeen2 inanČe2
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as 

to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 

balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognized 

immediatelǋ2 in2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss,2 unless2 theǋ2 aƑe2 diƑeČtlǋ2
attƑiċutaċle2to2ƐuaĲinĳ2assets,2 in2ǅhiČh2Čase2theǋ2aƑe2
capitalized in accordance with the Group’s general 

policy on borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are 

recognized an expenses in the periods in which they 

are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognized as an expense 

on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 

where another systematic basis is more representative 

oĲ2the2time2patteƑn2in2ǅhiČh2eČonomiČ2ċeneits2ĲƑom2the2
leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising 

under operating leases are recognized as an expense in 

the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter 

into operating leases such incentives are recognized 

as2 a2 liaċilitǋ.2 The2 aĳĳƑeĳate2 ċeneit2 oĲ2 inČentiǄes2 is2
recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a 

straight-line basis, except where another systematic 

basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 

eČonomiČ2ċeneits2ĲoƑm2the2leased2asset2aƑe2Čonsumed.

1.11 Foreign currencies

In2pƑepaƑinĳ2the2inanČial2statements2oĲ2eaČh2indiǄidual2
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 

entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are 

recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 

dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting 

period, monetary items denominated in foreign 

NOTE 1.

currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that 

date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 

denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 

the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was 

determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in 

terms of historical costs in a foreign currency are not 

retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognized 

in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2in2the2peƑiod2in2ǅhiČh2theǋ2aƑise2eǊČept2
ĲoƑ:

 ▪ Exchange differences on foreign currency 

borrowings relating to assets under construction for 

future reductive use which are included in the cost of 

those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment 

to interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings.

 ▪ Exchange differences on transactions entered into 

in order to hedge foreign currency risks.

 ▪ Exchange differences on monetary items 

receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for 

which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur 

in the foreseeable future therefore forming part of the 

net investment in the foreign operation), which are 

recognized initially in other comprehensive income and 

ƑeČlassiied2ĲƑom2eƐuitǋ2to2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2on2Ƒepaǋment2oĲ2
the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting these consolidated 

inanČial2 statements,2 the2 assets2 and2 liaċilities2 oĲ2 the2
Group’s foreign operations are translated into Euros 

using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each 

reporting period. Income and expense items are 

translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 

unless2eǊČhanĳe2Ƒates2luČtuate2siĳniiČantlǋ2duƑinĳ2that2
period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of 

the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, 

if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated in equity (and attributed to non-

controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. disposal of 

the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or 

a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary 

that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal 

of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate 

that includes a foreign operation of which the retained 

inteƑest2ċeČomes2a2inanČial2assetɛ2all2oĲ2the2eǊČhanĳe2
differences accumulated in equity in respect of the 

operation attributable to the owners of the Company 

aƑe2ƑeČlassiied2to2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that 

includes a foreign operation that does not result 

in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, 

the proportionate share of accumulated exchange 

differences are re-attributed to non-controlling 

inteƑests2 and2 aƑe2 not2 ƑeČoĳnized2 in2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss.2 FoƑ2
all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of 

associates or joint arrangements that do not result in 

the2GƑoup2 losinĳ2siĳniiČant2 inluenČe2oƑ2 joint2ČontƑolɛ,2
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange 

diĲĲeƑenČes2is2ƑeČlassiied2to2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

Goodǅill2 and2 ĲaiƑ2 Ǆalue2 adjustments2 to2 identiiaċle2
assets acquired and liabilities assumed through 

acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets 

and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated 

at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each 

reporting period. Exchange differences arising are 

recognized in other comprehensive income.

Ȃ.Ȃȃ2 Retirement2 ċeneit2 Čosts2 and2 termination2
ċeneits

Paǋments2 to2 deined2 ČontƑiċution2 ƑetiƑement2
ċeneit2 plans2 aƑe2 ƑeČoĳnized2 as2 an2 eǊpense2 ǅhen2
employees have rendered service entitling them to the 

contributions.

1.13 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax 

currently payable and deferred tax.

The2taǊ2ČuƑƑentlǋ2paǋaċle2is2ċased2on2taǊaċle2pƑoit2ĲoƑ2
the2ǋeaƑ.2TaǊaċle2pƑoit2diĲĲeƑs2ĲƑom2ɨpƑoit2ċeĲoƑe2taǊɩ2
as2 ƑepoƑted2 in2 the2Čonsolidated2statement2oĲ2pƑoit2oƑ2
loss and other comprehensive income, because items 

of income or expense that are taxable or deductible 

in other years and items that are never taxable or 

deductible. The Group’s current tax is calculated using 

tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences 

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

in2 the2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2 statements2 and2 the2
corresponding tax based used in the computation of 

taǊaċle2 pƑoit.2 DeĲeƑƑed2 taǊ2 liaċilities2 aƑe2 ĳeneƑallǋ2
recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 

Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all 

deductible temporary differences to the extent that it 

is2pƑoċaċle2that2taǊaċle2pƑoits2ǅill2ċe2aǄailaċle2aĳainst2
which those deductible temporary differences can be 

utilized. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not 

recognized if the temporary difference arises from the 

initial recognition (other than in a business combination) 

NOTE 1.
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of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neitheƑ2 the2 taǊaċle2pƑoit2noƑ2 the2aČČountinĳ2pƑoit.2 In2
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if the 

temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 

of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable 

temporary differences associated with investments 

in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint 

ventures, except where the Group is able to control the 

reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable 

that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from 

deductible temporary differences associated with such 

investments and interests are only recognized to the 

eǊtent2 that2 it2 is2 pƑoċaċle2 that2 theƑe2ǅill2 ċe2 suĲiČient2
taǊaċle2pƑoits2aĳainst2ǅhiČh2 to2utilize2 the2ċeneits2oĲ2
the temporary differences and they are expected to 

reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 

at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 

the2eǊtent2 that2 it2 is2no2 lonĳeƑ2pƑoċaċle2 that2suĲiČient2
taǊaċle2pƑoits2ǅill2ċe2aǄailaċle2to2alloǅ2all2oƑ2paƑt2oĲ2the2
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the 

tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

which the liability is settled or the asset realized., based 

on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting 

period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets 

ƑeleČts2 the2 ČonseƐuenČes2 that2 ǅould2 Ĳolloǅ2 ĲƑom2
the manner in which the Group expects at the end of 

the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 

amount of its assets and liabilities.

CuƑƑent2and2deĲeƑƑed2taǊ2aƑe2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss,2
except when they relate to items that are recognized 

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 

in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 

recognized in other comprehensive income or directly 

in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred 

tax arises from the initial accounting for a business 

combination the tax effect is included in the accounting 

from the business combination.

1.14 Property, plant and equipment and Intangible 
iǊed2assets2

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are 

stated at cost, being the fair value of the consideration 

given to acquire or construct the asset, including directly 

attributable costs required to bring the asset to the 

location or to a condition necessary for operation and 

the direct cost of dismantling and removing the asset, 

less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 

impairment losses. 

Intangible assets include goodwill and off-take 

contracts. For the accounting policies concerning 

mineral rights reference is made to note 1.15.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated to their 

estimated residual value over the estimated useful life 

oĲ2 the2speČiiČ2asset2ČonČeƑned.2 Identiiaċle2 intanĳiċle2
assets2 ǅith2 a2 inite2 liĲe2 aƑe2 amoƑtized2 on2 a2 stƑaiĳht-
line basis and/or in accordance with the unit-of-

production method (“UOP”) over their expected useful 

life. Reference is made to note 1.27 for more details 

on the application of the UOP method. Goodwill is not 

amortized.

The major categories of property, plant and equipment 

and intangible assets are depreciated/amortized on a 

UOP2and/oƑ2stƑaiĳht-line2ċasis2as2Ĳolloǅs2ɚpeƑ2annumɛ:

Land2and2Buildinĳs:22 ȁ%
Plant2and2EƐuipment:22 Ȃȁ%2-2ȄȄ%
OtheƑ2opeƑatinĳ2assets:2 up2to2Ȃȁ%

3ssets2 undeƑ2 inanČe2 leases,2 ǅheƑe2 suċstantiallǋ2 all2
the risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the 

Group as lessee, are capitalized and depreciated over 

their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned 

assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease. 

3ll2otheƑ2 leases2aƑe2Člassiied2as2opeƑatinĳ2 leases,2 the2
expenditures for which are charged against income 

over the accounting periods covered by the lease term.

1.15 Mineral rights

Mineral rights consist of exploration and evaluation 

expenditure, mineral resources, mineral reserves, and 

mineral rights.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure relates to 

costs incurred on the exploration and evaluation of 

potential mineral resources and includes costs such as 

researching and analyzing historical exploration data, 

exploratory drilling, trenching, sampling and the costs 

of pre-feasibility studies. 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure for each area 

of interest, other than that acquired from the purchase 

of another company, is charged to the statement of 

NOTE 1.

inČome2as2inČuƑƑed2eǊČept2ǅhen:

 ▪ the expenditure is expected to be recouped from 

future exploitation or sale of the area of interest; and 

it2 is2 planned2 to2 Čontinue2 ǅith2 aČtiǄe2 and2 siĳniiČant2
operations in relation to the area;

 ▪ or at the reporting period end, the activity has not 

reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 

of the existence of commercially recoverable reserves, 

in which case the expenditure is capitalized. 

Purchased exploration and evaluation assets are 

recognized at their fair value at acquisition. 

Capitalized exploration and evaluation expenditure is 

recorded as a component of mineral rights in property, 

plant and equipment. All capitalized exploration and 

evaluation expenditure is monitored for indications of 

impairment. Where a potential impairment is indicated, 

an assessment is performed for each area of interest 

or at the cash generating unit level. To the extent that 

capitalized expenditure is not expected to be recovered 

it is charged to the statement of income. 

Mineral reserves, resources and rights (together Mineral 

Rights) which can be reasonably valued, are recognized

In the assessment of fair values on acquisition, 

Mineral Rights for which values cannot be reasonably 

determined are not recognized. Exploitable Mineral 

Rights are amortized using the UOP over the 

commercially recoverable reserves and, in certain 

circumstances, other mineral resources. Mineral 

resources are included in amortization calculations 

ǅheƑe2 theƑe2 is2 a2 hiĳh2deĳƑee2oĲ2 ČonidenČe2 that2 theǋ2
will be extracted in an economic manner.

1.16 Impairment

At the end of each reporting period the Group reviews 

the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 

assets to determine whether there is any indication 

that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 

any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 

the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 

of the impairment loss (if any). When it is not possible 

to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 

asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 

the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

When a reasonable and consistent basis can be 

identiied,2Intanĳiċle2assets2ǅith2indeinite2useĲul2liǄes2
and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 

for impairment at least annually and whenever there is 

an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use 

the2estimated2ĲutuƑe2Čash2loǅs2aƑe2disČounted2to2theiƑ2
pƑesent2Ǆalue2usinĳ2a2pƑe-taǊ2disČount2Ƒate2that2ƑeleČts2
current market assessments of the time value of 

moneǋ2and2the2Ƒisks2speČiiČ2to2the2asset2ĲoƑ2ǅhiČh2the2
estimates2oĲ2ĲutuƑe2Čash2loǅs2haǄe2not2ċeen2adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-

generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 

amount the carrying amount of the asset (or cash 

generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 

3n2impaiƑment2loss2is2ƑeČoĳnized2immediatelǋ2in2pƑoit2
or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued 

amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as 

a revaluation decrease.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or a cash generating unit) 

is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 

amount but so that the increased carrying amount, does 

not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 

determined had no impairment loss been recognized 

for the asset  (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. 

A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized 

immediatelǋ2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2unless2the2ƑeleǄant2asset2is2
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal 

of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 

increase.

1.17 Inventories

Production Inventories are stated at the lower of 

cost and net realizable value. Costs of inventories are 

deteƑmined2on2a2iƑst-in-iƑst-out2ċasis.2Net2 Ƒealizaċle2
value represents the estimated selling price for 

inventories less all estimated costs of completion and 

costs necessary to make the sale.

The Trading inventories are stated at Fair Value less 

costs to sell.

1.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present 

obligation as a result of a past event it is probable that 

the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and 

a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the best 

NOTE 1.
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estimate of the consideration required to settle the 

present obligation at the end of the reporting period, 

taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation.

When2 a2 pƑoǄision2 is2 measuƑed2 usinĳ2 the2 Čash2 loǅs2
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying 

amount2is2the2pƑesent2Ǆalue2oĲ2those2Čash2loǅs2ɚǅhen2
the effect of the time value of money is material).

When2 some2 oƑ2 all2 the2 eČonomiČ2 ċeneits2 ƑeƐuiƑed2 to2
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 

third party a receivable is recognized as an asset if it 

is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 

and the amount of the receivable can be measured 

reliably.

1.19 Financial instruments

FinanČial2assets2and2inanČial2 liaċilities2aƑe2ƑeČoĳnized2
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instruments.

FinanČial2 assets2 and2 inanČial2 liaċilities2 aƑe2 initiallǋ2
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attƑiċutaċle2to2the2aČƐuisition2oƑ2issue2oĲ2inanČial2assets2
and2inanČial2liaċilities2ɚotheƑ2than2inanČial2assets2and2
inanČial2 liaċilities2 at2 ĲaiƑ2 Ǆalue2 thƑouĳh2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 lossɛ2
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 

inanČial2 assets2 oƑ2 inanČial2 liaċilities,2 as2 appƑopƑiate,2
on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly 

attƑiċutaċle2 to2 the2 aČƐuisition2 oĲ2 inanČial2 assets2 oƑ2
inanČial2liaċilities2at2ĲaiƑ2Ǆalue2thƑouĳh2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2aƑe2
ƑeČoĳnized2immediatelǋ2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

FinanČial2 assets2 aƑe2 Člassiied2 into2 the2 Ĳolloǅinĳ2
speČiied2 ČateĳoƑies:2 inanČial2 assets2 ɨat2 ĲaiƑ2 Ǆalue2
thƑouĳh2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 lossɩ2 ɚFVTPLɛ,2 ɨheld-to-matuƑitǋɩ2
inǄestments,2ɨaǄailaċle-ĲoƑ-saleɩ2ɚ3FSɛ2inanČial2assets,2
and2ɨloans2and2ƑeČeiǄaċlesɩ.2The2ČlassiiČation2depends2
on2the2natuƑe2and2puƑpose2oĲ2the2inanČial2assets2and2
is determined at the time of initial recognition. All 

ƑeĳulaƑ2ǅaǋ2puƑČhases2oƑ2sales2oĲ2inanČial2assets2aƑe2
recognized and derecognized on a trade date basis. 

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 

oĲ2inanČial2assets2that2ƑeƐuiƑe2deliǄeƑǋ2oĲ2assets2ǅithin2
the time frame established by regulation or convention 

in the marketplace.

FinanČial2 assets2 aƑe2 Člassiied2 as2 at2 FVTPL2ǅhen2 the2
inanČial2asset2is2eitheƑ2held2ĲoƑ2tƑadinĳ2oƑ2it2is2desiĳnated2
as at FVTPL. These are stated at fair value with any 

gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognized 

in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.2The2net2ĳain2oƑ2loss2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2
or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on 

the2inanČial2asset2and2 is2 inČluded2 in2 the2 ɨotheƑ2ĳains2
and losses” line item.

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative 

inanČial2 assets2ǅith2 iǊed2 oƑ2 deteƑminaċle2 paǋments2
and2iǊed2matuƑitǋ2dates2that2the2GƑoup2has2the2positiǄe2
intent and ability to hold to maturity. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method less any impairment.

3FS2inanČial2assets2aƑe2non-deƑiǄatiǄes2that2aƑe2eitheƑ2
desiĳnated2 as23FS2 oƑ2 aƑe2 not2 Člassiied2 as2 loans2 and2
receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or FVTPL.

Listed redeemable notes held by the Group that are 

tƑaded2 in2 an2 aČtiǄe2maƑket2 aƑe2 Člassiied2 as2 3FS2 and2
are stated at fair value at the end of each reporting 

period. The Group also has investments in unlisted 

shares that are not traded in an active market but 

that2 aƑe2 also2 Člassiied2 as2 3FS2 inanČial2 assets2 and2
stated at fair value at the end of each reporting period 

(because the directors consider that fair value can be 

reliably measured). Changes in the carrying amount 

oĲ23FS2monetaƑǋ2 inanČial2 assets2 Ƒelatinĳ2 to2 Čhanĳes2
in foreign currency rates, interest income calculated 

using the effective interest method and dividends on 

3FS2eƐuitǋ2inǄestments2aƑe2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.2
OtheƑ2Čhanĳes2in2the2ČaƑƑǋinĳ2amount2oĲ23FS2inanČial2
assets are recognized in other comprehensive income 

and accumulated under the heading of investments 

revaluation reserve. When the investment is disposed 

of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain 

or loss previously accumulated in the investments 

ƑeǄaluation2ƑeseƑǄe2is2ƑeČlassiied2to2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognized 

in2pƑoit2oƑ2 loss2ǅhen2the2GƑoupɫs2 Ƒiĳht2 to2 ƑeČeiǄe2 the2
dividends is established.

The2 ĲaiƑ2 Ǆalue2 oĲ2 3FS2 monetaƑǋ2 inanČial2 assets2
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in 

that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate 

prevailing at the end of the reporting period. The foreign 

eǊČhanĳe2ĳains2and2losses2that2aƑe2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2
or loss are determined based on the amortized cost of 

the monetary asset. Other foreign exchange gains and 

losses are recognized in other comprehensive income.

AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted 

market price in an active market and whose fair value 

cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that 

are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such 

unquoted equity investments are measured at cost less 

anǋ2 identiied2 impaiƑment2 losses2 at2 the2 end2 oĲ2 eaČh2
reporting period.

NOTE 1.

1.20 Loans and Receivables

Loans2 and2 ƑeČeiǄaċles2 aƑe2 non-deƑiǄatiǄe2 inanČial2
assets2 ǅith2 iǊed2 oƑ2 deteƑminaċle2 paǋments2 that2 aƑe2
not quoted in an active market. 

Loans and receivables (including trade and other 

receivables), bank balances and cash, and others are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, less any impairment.

Ȃ.ȃȂ2Impairment2oĲ2inanČial2assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed 

for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting 

period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired 

when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 

or more events that occurred after the initial recognition 

oĲ2the2inanČial2asset,2the2estimated2ĲutuƑe2Čash2loǅs2oĲ2
the investment have been affected. 

FoƑ23FS2eƐuitǋ2inǄestments,2a2siĳniiČant2oƑ2pƑolonĳed2
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost 

is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. 

FoƑ2 all2 otheƑ2 inanČial2 assets,2 oċjeČtiǄe2 eǄidenČe2 oĲ2
impaiƑment2Čould2inČlude:

 ▪ siĳniiČant2 inanČial2 diĲiČultǋ2 oĲ2 the2 issueƑ2 oƑ2
counterparty; or

 ▪ breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency 

in interest or principal payments; or

 ▪ it becoming probable that the borrower will enter 

ċankƑuptČǋ2oƑ2inanČial2ƑeoƑĳanization;2oƑ2
 ▪ the disappearance of an active market for that 

inanČial2asset2ċeČause2oĲ2inanČial2diĲiČulties.

FoƑ2ČeƑtain2ČateĳoƑies2oĲ2inanČial2assets,2suČh2as2tƑade2
receivables assets are assessed for impairment on a 

collective basis even if they were assessed not to be 

impaired individually. Objective evidence of impairment 

for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s 

past experience of collecting payments, an increase in 

the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past 

the average credit period, as well as observable changes 

in national or local economic conditions that correlate 

with default on receivables.

FoƑ2inanČial2assets2ČaƑƑied2at2amoƑtized2Čost,2the2amount2
of the impairment loss recognized is the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

Ǆalue2oĲ2estimated2ĲutuƑe2Čash2loǅs,2disČounted2at2the2
inanČial2assetɫs2oƑiĳinal2eĲĲeČtiǄe2inteƑest2Ƒate.

FoƑ2inanČial2assets2that2aƑe2ČaƑƑied2at2Čost,2the2amount2
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 

Ǆalue2oĲ2the2estimated2ĲutuƑe2Čash2loǅs2disČounted2at2
the2ČuƑƑent2maƑket2 Ƒate2oĲ2 ƑetuƑn2 ĲoƑ2a2similaƑ2inanČial2
asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in 

subsequent periods.

The2ČaƑƑǋinĳ2amount2oĲ2the2inanČial2asset2is2ƑeduČed2ċǋ2
the2impaiƑment2loss2diƑeČtlǋ2ĲoƑ2all2inanČial2assets2ǅith2
the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying 

amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 

account. 

When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is 

written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited 

against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 

amount of the allowance account are recognized in 

pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

When2an23FS2inanČial2asset2is2ČonsideƑed2to2ċe2impaiƑed,2
cumulative gains or losses previously recognized in 

otheƑ2ČompƑehensiǄe2inČome2aƑe2ƑeČlassiied2to2pƑoit2oƑ2
loss in the period.

FoƑ2inanČial2assets2measuƑed2at2amoƑtized2Čost,2iĲ,2in2a2
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 

decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 

an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, 

the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed 

thƑouĳh2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss2 to2 the2 eǊtent2 that2 the2 ČaƑƑǋinĳ2
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is 

reversed does not exceed what the amortized cost would 

have been had the impairment not been recognized.

In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment losses 

pƑeǄiouslǋ2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2aƑe2not2ƑeǄeƑsed2
thƑouĳh2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss.2 3nǋ2 inČƑease2 in2 ĲaiƑ2 Ǆalue2
subsequent to an impairment loss is recognized in other 

comprehensive income and accumulated under the 

heading of investments revaluation reserve. In respect of 

AFS debt securities, impairment loses are subsequently 

ƑeǄeƑsed2thƑouĳh2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2iĲ2an2inČƑease2in2the2ĲaiƑ2
value of the investment can be objectively related to an 

event occurring after the recognition of the impairment 

loss.

Ȃ.ȃȃ2De-reČoĳnition2oĲ2inanČial2assets

The2 GƑoup2 deƑeČoĳnizes2 a2 inanČial2 asset2 ǅhen2 the2
ČontƑaČtual2 Ƒiĳhts2 to2 the2 Čash2 loǅs2 ĲƑom2 the2 asset2
eǊpiƑe,2 oƑ2 ǅhen2 it2 tƑansĲeƑs2 the2 inanČial2 asset2 and2
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 

the asset to another party. 

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially 

NOTE 1.
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all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to 

control the transferred asset, the Group recognizes its 

retained interest in the asset and an associated liability 

for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 

oĲ2 a2 tƑansĲeƑƑed2 inanČial2 asset,2 the2 GƑoup2 Čontinues2
to2 ƑeČoĳnize2 the2inanČial2asset2and2also2ƑeČoĳnizes2a2
collateralized borrowing for the proceeds received.

On2de-ƑeČoĳnition2oĲ2a2inanČial2asset2in2its2entiƑetǋ,2the2
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

sum of the consideration received and receivable and 

the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized 

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

eƐuitǋ2is2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

On2 de-ƑeČoĳnition2 oĲ2 a2 inanČial2 asset2 otheƑ2 than2 its2
entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to 

repurchase part of a transferred asset), the group 

alloČates2the2pƑeǄious2ČaƑƑǋinĳ2amount2oĲ2the2inanČial2
asset between the part it continues to recognize under 

continuing involvement, and the part it no longer 

recognizes on the basis of the relative fair values of 

those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference 

between the carrying amount allocated to the part 

that is no longer recognized and the sum of the 

consideration received for the part no longer recognized 

and any cumulative gain or losses allocated to it that 

had been recognized in other comprehensive income 

is2 ƑeČoĳnized2 in2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss.2 32 ČumulatiǄe2 ĳain2 oƑ2
loss that had been recognized in other comprehensive 

income is allocated between the part that continues to 

be recognized and the part that is no longer recognized 

on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

1.23 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity 

aƑe2 Člassiied2as2eitheƑ2inanČial2 liaċilities2oƑ2 as2eƐuitǋ2
in accordance with the substance of the contractual 

aƑƑanĳements2and2the2deinitions2oĲ2a2inanČial2liaċilitǋ2
and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a 

residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 

all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group 

entity are recognized at the proceeds received, net of 

direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments 

is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain 

oƑ2loss2is2ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2 loss2on2the2puƑČhase,2
sale issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity 

instruments.

1.24 Financial liabilities

FinanČial2 liaċilities2 aƑe2 Člassiied2 as2 eitheƑ2 inanČial2
liaċilities2ɨat2FVTPLɩ2oƑ2ɨOtheƑ2inanČial2liaċilitiesɩ.

FinanČial2 liaċilities2 aƑe2 Člassiied2 as2 at2 FVTPL2 ǅhen2
the2 inanČial2 liaċilitǋ2 is2 eitheƑ2 held2 ĲoƑ2 tƑadinĳ2 oƑ2 it2 is2
desiĳnated2as2at2FVTPL.232inanČial2liaċilitǋ2is2Člassiied2
as2held2ĲoƑ2tƑadinĳ2iĲ:

 ▪ it has been incurred principally for the purpose of 

repurchasing in the near term; or

 ▪ on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of 

identiied2inanČial2instƑuments2that2the2GƑoup2manaĳes2
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term 

pƑoit2takinĳ;2oƑ2
 ▪ it is a derivative that is not designated and effective 

as hedging instrument.

32inanČial2 liaċilitǋ2otheƑ2than2held2ĲoƑ2tƑadinĳ2maǋ2ċe2
desiĳnated2as2at2FVTPL2upon2initial2ƑeČoĳnition2iĲ:2

 ▪ suČh2desiĳnation2eliminates2oƑ2siĳniiČantlǋ2ƑeduČes2
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 

otherwise arise; or
 ▪ the2 inanČial2 liaċilitǋ2 ĲoƑms2 paƑt2 oĲ2 a2 ĳƑoup2 oĲ2
inanČial2 assets2 oƑ2 inanČial2 liaċilities2 oƑ2 ċoth,2 ǅhiČh2 is2
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information 

about the grouping is provided internally on that basis ; or 

 ▪ it forms part of a contract containing one or more 

embedded derivatives, and IAS 39 permits the entire 

combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, 

with any gains or losses arising on re-measurement 

ƑeČoĳnized2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.2The2pƑoit2oƑ2loss2ƑeČoĳnized2
in2 pƑoit2 oƑ2 loss2 inČoƑpoƑates2 anǋ2 inteƑest2 paid2 on2 the2
inanČial2liaċilitǋ2and2is2inČluded2in2the2ɨotheƑ2ĳains2and2
losses“-line item.

OtheƑ2 inanČial2 liaċilities2 ɚinČludinĳ2 ċoƑƑoǅinĳs2 and2
trade and other payables) are subsequently measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating 

the2amoƑtized2Čost2oĲ2a2inanČial2liaċilitǋ2and2oĲ2alloČatinĳ2
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 

interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash payments (including all fees and points paid 

or received that form an integral part of the effective 

interest rate, transaction costs, and other premiums 

oƑ2disČountsɛ2thƑouĳh2the2eǊpeČted2liĲe2oĲ2the2inanČial2
liability or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the 

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

NOTE 1.

Ȃ.ȃ52De-reČoĳnition2oĲ2inanČial2liaċilities

The2GƑoup2deƑeČoĳnizes2inanČial2 liaċilities2ǅhen,2and2
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or they expire. The difference between the 

ČaƑƑǋinĳ2amount2oĲ2 the2inanČial2 liaċilitǋ2deƑeČoĳnized2
and the consideration paid and payable is recognized 

in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

1.26 Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivative instruments, which mainly include contracts 

to sell or purchase commodities that do not meet the 

own use exemption, as well as FX derivatives to a minor 

extend, are initially recognize at fair value when the 

Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 

of the instrument and are subsequently re-measured 

to fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair 

values are determined using quoted market prices, 

dealer price quotations or using models and other 

valuation techniques, the key inputs for which include 

current market and contractual prices of the underlying 

instrument, time to expiry, yield curves, volatility of the 

underlying instrument and counterparty risk.

Gains and losses on derivative instruments for which 

hedge accounting is not applied, other than the revenue 

adjustment mechanism embedded within provisionally 

priced sales, are recognized in cost of goods sold.

Those derivatives qualifying and designated as hedges 

are either

(i) a Fair Value Hedge of the change in fair value 

oĲ2a2ƑeČoĳnized2asset2oƑ2liaċilitǋ2oƑ2an2unƑeČoĳnized2iƑm2
commitment, or 

(ii) a Cash Flow Hedge of the change in cash 

loǅs2 to2 ċe2 ƑeČeiǄed2 oƑ2 paid2 Ƒelatinĳ2 to2 a2 ƑeČoĳnized2
asset or liability or a highly probably transaction. 

A change in the fair value of derivatives designated as a 

FaiƑ2Value2Hedĳe2is2ƑeleČted2toĳetheƑ2ǅith2the2Čhanĳe2
in the fair value of the hedged item in the statement of 

income.

A change in the fair value of derivatives designated as 

a2Cash2Floǅ2Hedĳe2is2initiallǋ2ƑeČoĳnized2as2a2Čash2loǅ2
hedge reserve in shareholders’ equity. The deferred 

amount is then released to the statement of income in 

the same periods during which the hedged transaction 

affects the statement of income. Hedge ineffectiveness 

is recorded in the statement of income when it occurs.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or 

when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 

accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in 

equity at that time remains in shareholders’ equity 

and is recognized in the statement of income when 

the committed or forecast transaction is ultimately 

recognized in the statement of income.

A derivative may be embedded in a “host contract”. 

Such combinations are known as hybrid instruments 

and at the date of issuance, the embedded derivative is 

separated from the host contract and accounted for as 

a stand-alone derivative if the criteria for separation are 

met. The host contract is accounted for in accordance 

with its relevant accounting policy.

1.27 Critical accounting policies, key judgments and 
estimates

The2 pƑepaƑation2 oĲ2 the2 Čonsolidated2 inanČial2
statements requires management to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 

of assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 

inanČial2 statements2 and2 the2 ƑepoƑted2 amounts2 oĲ2
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based 

on historical experience and other factors that are 

considered to be relevant. Actual outcomes could differ 

from those estimates.

The2 Companǋ2 has2 identiied2 the2 Ĳolloǅinĳ2 aƑeas2 as2
ċeinĳ2ČƑitiČal2oĲ2undeƑstandinĳ2the2Companǋɫs2inanČial2
position as they require management to make complex 

and/or subjective judgments and estimates about 

matteƑs2that2aƑe2inheƑentlǋ2unČeƑtain:

Depreciation and amortization of property plant and 

equipment and mineral rights

Mineral rights and certain plant and equipment are 

depreciated / amortized using UOP rate of depreciation 

/ amortization, and therefore the annual charge to 

opeƑations,2 Čan2 luČtuate2 ĲƑom2 initial2 estimates.2 This2
Čould2 ĳeneƑallǋ2 Ƒesult2 ǅhen2 theƑe2 aƑe2 siĳniiČant2
changes in any of the factors or assumptions used 

in estimating mineral reserves, notably changes in 

the geology of the reserves and assumptions used in 

determining the economic feasibility of the reserves. 

Such changes in reserves could similarly impact the 

useful lives of assets depreciated on a straight line 

basis, where those lives are limited to the life of the 

project, which in turn is limited to the life of the proven 

and probably mineral reserves. Estimates of proven and 

probable reserves are prepared by experts in extraction, 

geology and reserve determination. 

NOTE 1.
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Assessments of extraction, geology and reserve 

determination, assessments of UOP rates against the 

estimated reserve and resource base and the operating 

and development plan are performed regularly.

Impairments

Investments in Associates and other investments, 

advances, and loans and property, plant and equipment, 

and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying value may not be fully recoverable or 

at2 least2 annuallǋ2 ĲoƑ2 ĳoodǅill2 and2otheƑ2 indeinite2 liĲe2
intangible assets. 

If an asset’s recoverable amount is less than the assets’ 

carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. 

FutuƑe2Čash2loǅ2estimates2ǅhiČh2aƑe2used2to2ČalČulate2
the asset’s fair value are based on expectations about 

future operations primarily comprising estimates about 

production and sales volumes, commodity prices, 

reserves and resources, operating rehabilitations and 

restoration costs and capital expenditures. Changes 

in such estimates could impact recoverable values of 

these assets. 

Estimates are reviewed regularly by management.

Valuation of derivative instruments

Derivative instruments are carried at fair value and the 

company evaluates the quality and reliability of the 

assumptions and data used to measure fair value in the 

three hierarchy levels, Level 1, 2 and 3, as prescribed 

by IFRS 7. 

FaiƑ2 Ǆalues2 aƑe2 deteƑmined2 in2 the2 Ĳolloǅinĳ2 ǅaǋs:2
eǊteƑnallǋ2 ǄeƑiied2 Ǆia2 ČompaƑison2 to2 Ɛuoted2 maƑket2
prices in active markets (Level 1); by using models with 

eǊteƑnallǋ2ǄeƑiiaċlǋ2inputs2ɚLeǄelȃ2ɛ;2oƑ2usinĳ2alteƑnatiǄe2
procedures  such as comparison to comparable 

instruments and/or using models with unobservable 

market inputs requiring the Company to make market 

based assumptions (Level 3).

Provisions

The amount recognized as a provision, including tax, 

legal, restoration and rehabilitation, contractual and 

other exposures or obligations is the best estimate 

of the consideration required to settle the related 

liability, including any related interest charges, taking 

into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding 

the obligation. The Group assesses its liabilities 

and contingencies based upon the best information 

available, relevant tax laws and other appropriate 

requirements.

Fair Value measurements

In addition to recognizing derivative instruments at fair 

value, as discussed above, an assessment of air value 

of assets and liabilities is also require in accounting for 

other transaction most notably, business combinations 

and disclosures related to fair values of marketing 

inǄentoƑies,2 inanČial2 assets2 and2 liaċilities.2 In2 suČh2
instances, fair value measurements are estimated based 

on the amounts for which the assets and liabilities 

could be exchanged at the relevant transaction date or 

reporting period end, and are therefore not necessarily 

ƑeleČtiǄe2oĲ2the2likelǋ2Čash2loǅ2upon2aČtual2settlements.2
Where fair value measurements cannot be derived from 

publicly available information, they are estimated using 

models and other valuation methods. To the extent 

possible, the assumptions and inputs take into account 

eǊteƑnallǋ2ǄeƑiiaċle2inputs.2HoǅeǄeƑ,2suČh2inĲoƑmation2
is by nature subject to uncertainty; particularly where 

comparable market based transactions rarely exist.

NOTE 1.

2.1 General

The Company is organized in two segments, Non-

FeƑƑous2and2FeƑƑous,2ǅith2the2Ĳolloǅinĳ2suċ-seĳments:2
Trading and Production. 

This structure is used by management to assess the 

performance of the Company.

The Non-Ferrous production is headed by BAGR 

Berliner Aluminiumwerk GmbH, which is the leading 

independent secondary producer of aluminium slabs. 

BAGR is located in Berlin, Germany and has a highly 

eĲiČient2 team2 oĲ2 Ɛualiied2 pƑoĲessionals2 ǅho2 tuƑn2
aluminium scrap, alloy additives and small quantities of 

primary aluminium into high-quality aluminium slabs. 

These are then further processed by our customers 

into strips, sheets, plates and cuttings. BAGR has 

increased its business activities by taking a 50% stake 

and control of Stockach Aluminium, a secondary slab 

manufacturer located in Southern Germany.  The Group 

has furthermore a non-ferrous production base with 

Cable Recycling Industries S.L., a secondary copper 

producer based in Bilbao. 

In 2017, the Group acquired Stockach Alu GmbH - a 

third plant that produces similar products as BAGR.

The Non-Ferrous Trading activities are managed by 

Tennant Metals, which trades in all the LME metals 

and a range of specialty and bulk metals and acts as 

principal in the vast majority of its trading activities. The 

main metals traded by Tennant Metals are aluminium, 

copper, lead, tin and zinc.

The raw materials division consist of a team of 

professionals that has the objective to develop 

resources projects to establish off-take agreements and 

partnerships with third parties.

The Ferrous Trading division is headed by Steelcom and 

its trading activities cover a wide range of steel-making 

raw materials (such as coal, metallurgical coke, iron ore, 

pig iron, hot briquetted iron (HBI) and direct reduced 

iƑon2 ɚDRIɛ,2 semi-inished2pƑoduČts2 ɚsuČh2 as2 slaċs2 and2
ċilletsɛ,2and2inished2 industƑial2steel2pƑoduČts2ɚsuČh2as2
lonĳ2 and2 lat2 inished2 steel2 pƑoduČts,2 ĲƑom2 stƑuČtuƑal2
sections to high-value-added coated and pre-painted 

products). Furthermore, since September 2016 

Steelcom runs a steel automotive supply chain business, 

which has been a principal reason for the increase in 

net revenues for the full year of 2017.  Steelcom is well 

positioned to serve international clients and suppliers 

due2to2its2ĳloċal2pƑesenČe,2its2Ƒenoǅned2ċaČk2oĲiČe,2its2
tƑade2inanČe2ĲaČilities2and2its2opeƑatinĳ2tƑaČk2ƑeČoƑd2oĲ2
over 50 years.

In Ferrous Production, the Group runs a state-of the 

art pipe and tube manufacturing plant in Thessaloniki, 

Greece.

2.2 Segment Revenues and Results

The2Ĳolloǅinĳ2is2an2analǋsis2oĲ2the2GƑoupɫs2ƑeǄenue,2ĳƑoss2pƑoit2ɚɨGMɩɛ2and2Ƒesults2ĲƑom2Čontinuinĳ2opeƑations2ċǋ2
reportable segment.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue 

generated from external customers. Apart from service 

fees charged between entities for services provided, 

there were no inter-segment sales in the current 

year. Revenue includes contracts related to a number 

of different commodities and related services in the 

amount of EUR 14 million that were established with 

related parties.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are 

the same as the Group’s accounting policies described 

in2note2Ȃ.2PƑoit2ƑepƑesents2the2pƑoit2aĲteƑ2taǊ2eaƑned2ċǋ2
each segment.

NOTE 2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue GM Result 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-ferrous

- Trading       280 989       308 076         15 033         14 964          6 268          5 933 

- Production       114 678         54 125         11 389           4 954          7 555          1 645 

Total Non-ferrous       395 667       362 201         26 422         19 918        13 823          7 578 

Ferrous

- Trading       190 176         50 037         16 313           4 357          2 188          1 056 

- Production           2 637              803               -21             -288                -           -1 018 

Total Ferrous       192 813         50 840         16 292           4 069          2 188               38 

Other           4 208           9 516           4 208           8 345         -2 886          1 120 

Total       592 688       422 557         46 922         32 332        13 125          8 736 
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2.3 Segment Assets and Liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable segment.

The additions to non-current assets in the trading 

diǄision2 also2 inČlude2 the2 additions2 oĲ2 inanČial2
instruments as reported in Note 8 Financial Fixed 

Assets. 

It2 is2 inČluded2 in2 this2 oǄeƑǄieǅ,2 as2 it2 is2 a2 siĳniiČant2
position that is reported to management on a regular 

basis.

NOTE 2.

The allocation of Revenue and GM is based on the 

country of incorporation of the sales counterparty. This 

may not necessarily be the country of the counterparty’s 

ultimate2paƑent2and/oƑ2inal2destination2oĲ2pƑoduČt.
Note that the Non-Current assets also contain the 

inanČial2 instƑuments2 as2 ƑepoƑted2 in2 Note2 ȉ2 FinanČial2

FiǊed2 3ssets,2 as2 this2 is2 a2 siĳniiČant2 position2 that2 is2
reported to management on a regular basis. This 

amount (EUR 48 thousand) is included in the Asia 

PaČiiČ2seĳment.

None of the customers contribute over 10% of revenue.

NOTE 2.

The average number of employees of the Group during 

the year, converted to full-time equivalents was 286 

ɚȃȁȂȇ:2 ȂȆȈɛ2 oĲ2 ǅhiČh2 ȃȉȁ2 aƑe2 emploǋed2 outside2 the2
NetheƑlands2 ɚȃȁȂȇ:2 Ȃȅȉɛ.2 In2 the2 peƑsonnel2 eǊpenses2

an amount of EUR 1.034 thousand related to social 

seČuƑitǋ2pƑemiums2ɚȃȁȂȇ:2EUR2ȇȉȊ2thousandɛ2and2an2
amount of EUR 208 related to pension premiums are 

inČluded2ɚȃȁȂȇ:2EUR2ȄȊȇ2thousandɛ.

NOTE 3. EXPENSES

2.4 Geographical Information

The2GƑoup2opeƑates2ĳloċallǋ2and2opeƑations2aƑe2manaĳed2ċǋ2the2Ĳolloǅinĳ2ĳeoĳƑaphiČal2analǋsis:

 Assets  Liabilities 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-ferrous

- Trading         81 053       103 180        61 906        89 278 

- Production         65 912         32 447        37 070        36 237 

Total Non-ferrous       146 965       135 627        98 976      125 515 

Ferrous

- Trading         50 497         43 822        33 643        29 069 

- Production         32 773         32 063        13 961        12 956 

Total Ferrous         83 270         75 885        47 604        42 025 

Other       204 507       137 122      149 132        59 500 

Total       434 742       348 634      295 712      227 040 

 Depreciation and amortization  Additions to non-current assets 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016 2017 2016

Non-ferrous

- Trading                30                 -           -3 676               96 

- Production              846              469          6 886              -83 

Total Non-ferrous              876              469          3 210               13 

Ferrous

- Trading                80                 -              -133                -   

- Production                76              164              -80             129 

Total Ferrous              156              164            -213             129 

Other                39              239         -2 397          5 766 

Total           1 071              872             600          5 908 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

Selling expenses

Personnel                                                         4 778                           4 096 

Sales and marketing expenses                                                               56                                 54 

Total selling expenses                                                         4 834                           4 150 

Administrative expenses

Personnel                                                         2 818                           2 056 

Professional services fees                                                         2 537                           1 784 

FaČilities2and2oĲiČes                                                         2 373                           1 479 

Other operating expenses                                                         2 181                           1 227 

Depreciation and amortization                                                         1 071                              830 

Total administrative expenses                                                       10 980                           7 376 

 Operating expenses                                                       15 814                        11 526 

Breakdoǅn:2depreČiation2and2amortization
Property Plant and Equipment                                                             997                              808 

Intangible assets                                                             255                                 64 

total depreciation and amortization                                                         1 252                              872 

Allocated to production costs                                                           -181                               -42 

As included in administrative expenses                                                         1 071                              830 

 Revenue  GM  Non-Current assets 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Region

Europe      481 966      262 223        42 266        25 536        60 507        51 977 

Middle East           6 903         51 285              496           2 174                  -                    -   

3sia-PaČiiČ         36 940         81 222           1 540           3 443        12 526        16 987 

Americas         13 546           9 747              587              413                  -                    -   

Africa         53 333         18 080           2 033              766        89 156        92 625 

Total      592 688      422 557        46 922        32 332     162 189     161 589 
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NOTE 4. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

The decrease in the deferred tax liabilities led to a 

favorable impact on the total income tax expense.

The effective tax rate on the group results rate differs 

from the statutory Dutch income tax rate applicable 

to the Company mainly due to increased activity in 

EuƑopean2Ƒeĳions2suČh2as2GeƑmanǋ2and2the2ċeneiČial2
deferred tax impact in Greece.

InČome2taǊes2Čonsist2oĲ2the2Ĳolloǅinĳ:

NOTE 5. TAXATION

The2moǄements2in2PƑopeƑtǋ2plant2and2eƐuipment2aƑe2as2Ĳolloǅs:

The Plant and Machinery as at 1 January 2017 represent 

the production facilities of BAGR, CRI and Nikolaïdis. 

Part of the equipment for the BAGR facilities is leased 

for which reference is made to Note 15 – Leasing.

The additions of 2017 in Plant and Machinery and 

Other operating assets are mainly related to capitalized 

maintenance expenses that extend the economic 

life, which are written off in line with the accounting 

principles as set out in Note 1.

The additions in Mineral rights are related to the further 

development of Societe des Bauxites de Guinee, an 

integrated bauxite and alumina facility in Guinea. 

The acquisitions of 2017 relate to the property, 

plant and equipment of Alu Stockach GmbH and the 

divestment relates to the sale of our bauxite project in 

Sierra Leone, Minerals and Mining.

The annual impairment test did not lead to any write-

offs. For the accounting treatment of Mineral rights and 

the impairments, reference is made to note 1.15 and 

note 1.16.

NOTE 6. PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

Financial income and expense

Other interest income and similar income                           2 899                           1 689 

Interest expenses and similar charges                       -17 397                         -9 899 

OtheƑ2inanČinĳ2inČome                           3 724                              710 

OtheƑ2inanČinĳ2eǊpenses                         -6 761                         -4 218 

Total2inanČial2inČome2and2eǊpense                       -17 535                       -11 718 

Income from foreign exchange

Forex gains                           7 344                           4 428 

Forex losses                         -4 169                         -2 933 

Total income from foreign exchange                           3 176                           1 495 

Total2inanČial2inČome2and2eǊpense                       -14 359                       -10 223 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

Current income tax expense         -5 207         -1 766 

Deferred income tax          1 609                -   

Total income tax expense         -3 598         -1 766 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

% EUR % EUR

Taxable result        16 723        10 502 

Tax burden based on Dutch nominal rate 24,9%          4 171 24,9%          2 613 

Exempted Income 0,0%                -   -1,8%            -191 

Tax rate differences. 6,2%          1 037 -6,2%            -656 

Taxation on result on ordinary activities 31,1%          5 208 16,8%          1 766 

EUR 1.000
 Land and 
buildings 

 Plant and 
machinery 

 Other 
operating 

assets 

 Mineral 
rights 

 Total 

Gross carrying amount

1 January 2016          10 423         24 202           2 883         86 993       124 501 

Additions                470                256                279            5 632            6 637 

31 December 2016         10 893       24 458        3 162                  92 625      131 138 

Accumulated depreciation and impairments

1 January 2016                143            6 518           1 727                     -            8 388 

Depreciation                   -           617                191                    -                 808 

31 December 2016              143           7 135            1 918                  -              9 196 

Net book value at 31 December 2016      10 750         17 323            1 244       92 625     121 942 

EUR 1.000
 Land and 
buildings 

 Plant and 
machinery 

 Other 
operating 

assets 

 Mineral 
rights 

 Total 

Gross carrying amount

1 January 2017        10 893         24 458           3 162         92 625       131 138 

Additions         1 170        7 790                591       2 288         11 839 

Sold assets          -                   -                   -         -5 767       -5 767 

Exchange rate differences                  -                    -                    -                   -            -   

31 December 2017     12 063      32 248         3 753      89 156    137 210 

Accumulated depreciation and impairments

1 January 2017           143         7 135         1 918          -           9 196 

Depreciation                 -               495             502                  -               997 

31 December 2017             143         7 630         2 420                 -         10 193 

Net book value at 31 December 2017       11 920       24 618         1 333       89 156     127 017 
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The Contract based Intangible assets are related to a 

portfolio of supply contracts that the Company obtained 

through past acquisitions. 

No2impaiƑment2oĲ2these2inite-liǄe2intanĳiċle2assets2ǅas2
recognized during 2017, as the fair value less costs to 

sell of the related cash-generating units was in excess 

of their carrying amounts. The contracts are amortized 

in accordance with the unit-production method. 

The production related to these contracts has started or 

is expected to commence within one to four years. The 

contracts are expected to produce over a period between 

10 and 16 years. The valuation of these contracts is 

assessed by calculating the net present values of the 

supply that will be provided over the contract-term 

using long term price forecast for the metals provided 

by third parties. As the contracts relate to operations 

that are in development, the discount rates are set at 

similar levels used for project development applicable 

to the regions in which the operations are located.

Goodwill is related to the investments in the production 

aČtiǄities2 ɚȃȁȂȈ:2 EUR2 ȃȁ.ȉȃȁ2 thousand;2 ȃȁȂȇ:2 EUR2
ȃȁ.ȉȃȁ2 thousandɛ2 and2 the2 tƑadinĳ2 aČtiǄities2 ɚȃȁȂȈ:2
EUR2Ȃ.ȉȂȅ2thousand;2ȃȁȂȇ:2EUR2Ȃ.ȉȂȅ2thousandɛ.2The2
recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit, used 

in the annual impairment tests performed in the fourth 

quarter, is based on its value in use. Key assumptions 

used in the impairment tests for the cash-generated 

units were sales growth rates, operating result and the 

Ƒates2 used2 ĲoƑ2 disČountinĳ2 the2 pƑojeČted2 Čash2 loǅs.2
These2 Čash2 loǅ2 pƑojeČtions2 ǅeƑe2 deteƑmined2 usinĳ2
management’s internal forecasts that cover a period of 

Ȇ2ǋeaƑs,2ċased2on2the2inanČial2plans2as2appƑoǄed2ċǋ2the2
Company’s management. The annual impairment test 

did not lead to any impairments of goodwill. The present 

Ǆalue2oĲ2estimated2Čash2loǅs2has2ċeen2ČalČulated2usinĳ2
a pre-tax discount rate of 8,7 % in respect of our trading 

activities and 11,10 % in respect of our production 

aČtiǄities.2The2pƑe-taǊ2disČount2Ƒate2ƑeleČts2the2ČuƑƑent2
market assessment of the time value of money and the 

speČiiČ2Ƒisks2oĲ2the2Čash-ĳeneƑatinĳ2unit.

32summaƑǋ2oĲ2the2moǄements2oĲ2intanĳiċle2iǊed2assets2is2ĳiǄen2ċeloǅ:

NOTE 7. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

32summaƑǋ2oĲ2the2moǄements2in2the2inanČial2iǊed2assets2is2ĳiǄen2ċeloǅ:

The “Other receivables” includes loans given to various 

Čompanies2to2inanČe2the2staƑt-up2oĲ2pƑoduČtion2ĲaČilities2
for which we will receive potential off-takes in return.

All these loans are secured by underlying assets of 

those companies.

NOTE 9. INVENTORIES

The2 manuĲaČtuƑinĳ2 inǄentoƑies2 Čonsist2 oĲ2 inished2
products and raw materials and consumables of BAGR, 

CRI,2Nikolaïdis2and23lu2StoČkaČh.2The2inished2pƑoduČts2
are already sold and in the course of delivery to the 

client. 

The trading inventories are commodities that are 

already sold by, but still held by the Trading companies 

as the Company still retains the principal risks and 

rewards of ownership. These inventories are pledged 

as2a2seČuƑitǋ2ĲoƑ2tƑade2inanČe2ĲaČilities.

No impairment has been recorded for the inventories 

during the year.

NOTE 8. FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

EUR 1.000
Contract based 

intangible
assets

Goodwill
Other 

intangible
assets

Total

Gross carrying amount

1 January 2016            12 588            22 634             259             35 481 

Additions                        -                         -                        47                      47 

Exchange rate differences                  131                        -                          -                     131 

31 December 2016             12 719             22 634                  306               35 659 

Accumulated amortization and impairments

1 January 2016                        -                           -                     216                   216 

Amortization                         -                            -                        64                      64 

31 December 2016                         -                           -                     280              280 

Net book value at 31 December 2016             12 719             22 634                      26              35 379 

EUR 1.000
Contract based 

intangible
assets

Goodwill
Other 

intangible
assets

Total

Gross carrying amount

1 January 2017        12 719             22 634                  306             35 659 

Additions                        -                           -                          -                           -   

Exchange rate differences                         -                           -                          -                          -   

31 December 2017               12 719             22 634                   306              35 659 

Accumulated amortization and impairments

1 January 2017                       -                           -                     280                   280 

Amortization                   241                         -                        14                   255 

31 December 2017                   241                       -                     294                    535 

Net book value at 31 December 2017               12 478              22 634               12             35 124 

EUR 1.000  Other receivables 

Book Value

Balance at 1 January 2016                           4 303 

Sales, redemptions                               -35 

Balance at 31 December 2016                           4 268 

Book Value

Balance at 1 January 2017                           4 268 

Sales, redemptions and other                         -4 220 

Impairments in value                                  -   

Balance at 31 December 2017                                 48 

EUR 1.000 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Manufacturing

Raw materials and consumables                           7 747                           5 045 

Finished products                           9 696                           1 824 

Trading

Finished products                        18 737                        27 007 

Total inventories                        36 180                        33 876 
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Part of the trade receivables are pledged as collateral 

ĲoƑ2 tƑade2 inanČed2 loans.2 The2 ČƑedit2 Ƒisk2 oĲ2 the2 TƑade2
ƑeČeiǄaċles2 is2 insuƑed2 at2 Ƒenoǅned2 insuƑanČe2 iƑms2
and all related due trade receivables were collected 

in2 the2 iƑst2 ƐuaƑteƑ2 oĲ2 ȃȁȂȈ.2Within2 otheƑ2 ƑeČeiǄaċles2
an amount of EUR 10,8 million is included concerning 

products already delivered and to be invoiced to a 

customer. Furthermore, an amount of EUR 4,7 million 

is2 inČluded2 ɚȃȁȂȇ:2 EUR2 ȅ,Ȉ2 millionɛ2 in2 Ƒelation2 to2 a2
manganese project that Metalcorp initiated and then 

sold to a third party for further development. The 

amount is outstanding and the Company deems it 

reasonable to collect it as the total nominal value of the 

project is EUR 7,0 million. Prepayments and accrued 

income include prepayments for material purchased 

and down payments received from customers.

NOTE 10. RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME

The unlisted securities include a portfolio of shares of 

the Company’s parent company, which are held for 

trading in relation with future business acquisitions 

(reference is made to note 18).

NOTE 11. SECURITIES

An amount of EUR 13,2 million of the Cash and Cash 

Equivalents is restricted as this cash is mainly deposited 

at2 multiple2 Ƒenoǅned2 tƑade2 inanČe2 ċanks2 and2 seƑǄe2
as2Čash2ČollateƑal2 ĲoƑ2 tƑade2inanČe2 tƑansaČtions2at2ȄȂ2
DeČemċeƑ2 ȃȁȂȈ.2 TƑade2 inanČe2 has2 a2 selĲ-liƐuidatinĳ2
character, which means that the cash becomes 

unƑestƑiČted2 upon2 Čompletion2 oĲ2 the2 tƑade2 inanČe2
transaction.

Furthermore, an amount of EUR 23.759 thousand 

is deposited on an escrow account as part of the 

placement of the bond on the Norwegian exchange 

(see note 14) in order to secure the repayment of the 

German bond that matures on 27 June 2018.

NOTE 12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTE 13. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The movement in Equity is provided in E. Consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Isued Share Capital

The issued share capital of the Company amounts to 

EUR2Ȉȁ2million2ɚȃȁȂȇ:2EUR2Ȉȁ2millionɛ2diǄided2into2Ȉȁ2
million ordinary shares of EUR 1 per share. The total 

numċeƑ2oĲ2authoƑized2shaƑes2is2ȂȂȁ2million2ɚȃȁȂȇ:2ȂȂȁ2
million shares). The majority of the shares are owned 

by Lunala Investments S.A. (Luxembourg).

The translation reserve comprises of all foreign 

exchange differences arising from the translation 

oĲ2 the2 inanČial2 statements2 oĲ2 ĲoƑeiĳn2 opeƑations2 as2
well as from the translation of intercompany loans of 

permanent nature.

Translation Reserve

Revaluation Reserve

In2 aČČoƑdanČe2ǅith2DutČh2 laǅ2 ɚaƑt.2 ȃ:ȄȊȁɛ2 the2 Ƒesult2
that applies to the evaluations of securities without 

a frequent market listing is non-distributional and 

allocated to the revaluation reserve (legal reserve).

EUR 1.000 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Trade receivables                      140 807                        86 291 

Related parties                                  -                          18 260 

Other receivables                        27 975                           6 174 

Taxation                           1 878                           1 150 

Prepayments and accrued income                           9 994                        24 460 

Total receivables, prepayments and accrued income                      180 654                      136 335 

EUR 1.000 01/01/2016 Acquisition Disposal Revaluation 31/12/2016

Unlisted securities           6 029                        -                     -4                     26              6 051 

Listed securities                   107 
                         

- 

                         

- 
                -107                         - 

Total             6 136                     -                -4               -81              6 051 

EUR 1.000 01/01/2017 Acquisition Disposal Revaluation 31/12/2017

Unlisted securities                6 051 
                         

- 

                         

- 

                    

-26 
               6 025 

Listed securities                         - 
                         

- 

                         

- 

                         

- 

                         

- 

Total              6 051                      -                       -                  -26               6 025 
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NOTE 14. LIABILITIES

Long Term Liabilities

The Long term liabilities are those bank loans and lease 

obligations which are due in more than 1 year. None of 

these are due in more than 5 years.

Bank loans (>1 year) represent a subordinated loan 

provided until 2018 with a rate of Euribor plus 3,45% 

and is due in quarterly instalments.

Bonds represent the bonds that were launched in 

2017 on the Norway Exchange (EUR 70 million) and 

the Frankfurt Exchange (EUR 50 million). The term of 

both bonds is 5 years with an interest of 7,00% per 

annum. The Fair value of the bonds amount to EUR 

115,1 million at 31 December 2017. These placements 

have secured the repayment of the German bond that 

eǊpiƑes2on2ȃȈ2June2ȃȁȂȉ2that2is2ƑeleČted2undeƑ2ČuƑƑent2
liaċilities2as2ɨČuƑƑent2poƑtion2oĲ2ċondsɩ2ɚheƑeinaĲteƑ:2the2
“2013-2018 Bond”). Out of these bond proceeds EUR 

6,2 million was used to buy back and an amount of EUR 

25.6 million was used to exchange the 2013-2018 

bond to reduce the outstanding volume from EUR 75 

million to EUR 43,2 million. In line with the conditions 

of the bond that is placed on the Norway Exchange, an 

amount of EUR 23,8 million is on an escrow account 

and2ƑeleČted2undeƑ2Čash2and2Čash2eƐuiǄalents2in2oƑdeƑ2
to secure the repayment of the 2013-2018 bond.

With regards to Long term leasing, reference is made 

to Note 15.

Other long-term liabilities represent the loan given by 

a Greek bank to our steel production facility, Nikolaïdis. 

The loan has a term of 10 years with an interest of 

Euribor plus 3,75%.

3ll2liaċilities2due2in2less2than2a2ǋeaƑ2plus2ċank2ČƑedit2Ƒelated2to2tƑade2inanČe2aƑe2Člassiied2as2ČuƑƑent2liaċilitǋ.2InǄentoƑǋ2
and2deċtoƑs2haǄe2ċeen2pledĳed2as2ČollateƑal.2The2Ĳolloǅinĳ2Ƒates2ǅith2ƑespeČtiǄe2amounts2applǋ2to2the2ċank2loans:

Current Liabilities and Accruals

EUR  MaǊ.2FaČilitǋ  Amount 2016

Trade2inanČe
Uncommitted facilities - interest applied deal by deal based on framework agreements Deal-by-deal basis 51 335

Working capital facilities

Euribor + markup 3% - 7% 14 500 12 430

ȅ%2-2Ȃȁ%2iǊed 5 455 5 455

Total bank loans (< 1 year) 69 219

The2 lease2 oċliĳations2 Čontain2 inanČial2 lease2 liaċilities2
of plant and equipment. The assets leased under 

inanČial2leasinĳ2teƑms2haǄe2ċeen2aČČounted2ĲoƑ2in2the2
ċalanČe2sheet2undeƑ2tanĳiċle2iǊed2assets2at2EUR2ȃ.ȂȄȉ2
thousand2 at2 ȄȂ2 DeČemċeƑ2 ȃȁȂȈ2 ɚȃȁȂȇ:2 EUR2 ȃ.ȁȁȅ2
thousand). BAGR is not the legal owner of these assets. 

The2ČhaƑĳe2in2the2pƑoit2and2loss2aČČount2ĲoƑ2FY2ȃȁȂȈ2
amounts2to2EUR2ȉȂ2thousand2ɚȃȁȂȇ:2EUR2ȉȆ2thousandɛ.

The company has operating leases in the amount of 

EUR 314 thousand related to cars and equipment at 

Stockach and qualify as off-balance positions.

The2oċliĳations2ĲoƑ2leases2enteƑed2into2aƑe2shoǅn2ċeloǅ:

The current portion of bonds is related to the remaining 

amount of the 2013-2018 Bond that was placed on the 

Frankfurt Exchange in 2013 and matures on 27 june 

2018. Out of the volume of EUR 75 million, an amount 

of EUR 31,8 million is bought back or exchanged for 

new bonds, so that an amount of EUR 43,2 million 

remains. Reference is made to the EUR 23,8 million 

that2is2kept2on2an2esČƑoǅ2aČČount2and2ƑeleČted2undeƑ2
cash and cash equivalents and can only be used for 

repayment of the 2013-2018 bond.

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

Lease installments < 1 year                              233                              233 

Lease installments 1 - 5 years                           1 364                           1 572 

Total lease installments                           1 597                           1 805 

NOTE 15. LEASING

NOTE 14.

EUR 1.000 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Long-term liabilities

Bank loans (> 1 year)                             -                        1 789 

Bonds                 108 008                   65 379 

Long term leasing                      1 364                      1 572 

Other Long-term Liabilities                      6 239                      6 425 

                     115 611                        75 165 

Current liabilities and accruals

Bank loans (< 1 year)                   69 219                   91 671 

Short term portion of bonds                   42 720                             -   

Short term portion of leasing                         233                         233 

Trade payables                   43 361                   39 617 

Related parties payable                      4 901                         886 

Other payables                             -                               -   

Taxes and social security charges payable                      1 446                      1 020 

Other current liabilities                      1 488                      1 027 

Accrued liabilities and deferred income 13 406                   12 486

               176 774                      146 940 
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NOTE 16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The2taċle2ċeloǅ2pƑoǄides2an2oǄeƑǄieǅ2oĲ2the2inanČial2instƑuments2oĲ2the2ĳƑoup2diǄided2into2the2Člasses2FaiƑ2Value2
thƑouĳh2PƑoit2and2Loss2ɚɨFVTPLɩɛ,2Loans2and2ReČeiǄaċles,2and23Ǆailaċle-ĲoƑ-Sale.2Held-to-matuƑitǋ2 instƑuments2
are not applicable.

In2the2taċle2aċoǄe2ɚin2ǅhiČh2the2inanČial2instƑuments2aƑe2pƑesentedɛ2onlǋ2the2seČuƑities2aƑe2Ǆalued2at2ĲaiƑ2Ǆalue2as2
well as the FVTPL part of the Current liabilities.

The2FaiƑ2Value2hieƑaƑČhǋ2oĲ2these2items2aƑe2pƑoǄided2in2the2taċle2ċeloǅ:

During the year no amounts were transferred between 

Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.  

3s2 at2 ȄȂ2 DeČemċeƑ2 ȃȁȂȇ2 no2 inanČial2 assets2 and2
liabilities were subject to offsetting.

The level 3 securities are mainly related to unlisted 

shares. In circumstances where Metalcorp Group B.V. 

cannot verify fair value with observable market inputs 

(Level 3 fair values), it is possible that a different 

valuation model could produce a materially different 

estimate of fair value.

NOTE 16.

2016

EUR 1.000
note FVTPL

Loans and 

receivables

Available-

for-sale
Total

Financial Fixed assets - other receivables 8               -            4 268                  -              4 268 

Receivables, prepayments and accrued income 10                -        136 335                     -        136 335 

Securities 11         751                    -             5 300           6 051 

Cash and cash equivalents 12     10 783                   -                     -          10 783 

Total2inanČial2assets      11 534      140 603            5 300      157 437 

Borrowings (> 1 year) 14                 -           75 165                   -          75 165 

Current liabilities and accruals 14               -        146 940                      -          146 940

Total2inanČial2liaċilities               -      222 105                     -         222 105

2017

EUR 1.000
note FVTPL

Loans and 

receivables

Available-

for-sale
Total

Financial Fixed assets - other receivables 8                -                   48                    -                    48 

Receivables, prepayments and accrued income 10                -        180 654                    -        180 654 

Securities 11                -                      -              6 025            6 025 

Cash and cash equivalents 12      49 694                   -                     -          49 694 

Total2inanČial2assets      49 694       180 702            6 025       236 420 

Borrowings (> 1 year) 14                 -         115 611                     -         115 611 

Current liabilities and accruals 14                 -          176 774                   -           176 774 

Total2inanČial2liaċilities          -         292 385                    -        292 385 

Fair Value Measurements

Fair values are primarily determined using quoted 

market prices or standard pricing models using 

observable market inputs where available and are 

pƑesented2to2ƑeleČt2the2eǊpeČted2ĳƑoss2ĲutuƑe2Čash2in/
outloǅs.2MetalČoƑp2GƑoup2B.V.2Člassiies2the2ĲaiƑ2Ǆalues2
oĲ2 its2inanČial2 instƑuments2 into2a2thƑee2 leǄel2hieƑaƑČhǋ2
based on the degree of the source and observability of 

the inputs that are used to derive the fair value of the 

inanČial2asset2oƑ2liaċilitǋ2as2Ĳolloǅs:

Level 1 - Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 

markets for identical assets or liabilities that Metalcorp 

Group B.V. can assess at the measurement date; or

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted inputs included in 

Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities, 

either directly or indirectly; or

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities, 

requiring Metalcorp Group B.V. to make market based 

assumptions.

2016

EUR 1.000
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Fixed assets - other receivables                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Receivables, prepayments and accrued income                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Securities                    -                      -              6 051            6 051 

Cash and cash equivalents                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Total2inanČial2assets                    -                      -              6 051            6 051 

Borrowings (> 1 year)                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Current liabilities and accruals                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Total2inanČial2liaċilities                    -                      -                      -                      -   

2017

EUR 1.000
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial Fixed assets - other receivables                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Receivables, prepayments and accrued income                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Securities                    -                      -              6 025            6 025 

Cash and cash equivalents                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Total2inanČial2assets                    -                      -              6 025            6 025 

Borrowings (> 1 year)                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Current liabilities and accruals                    -                      -                      -                      -   

Total2inanČial2liaċilities                    -                      -                      -                      -   
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NOTE 16.

Financial and Capital Risk Management

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising 
ĲƑom2inanČial2instƑuments:

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk

This note presents information about the Group’s 
exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

Credit risk

CƑedit2Ƒisk2is2the2Ƒisk2oĲ2inanČial2loss2to2the2GƑoup2iĲ2a2
ČustomeƑ2oƑ2ČounteƑpaƑtǋ2to2a2inanČial2instƑument2Ĳails2
to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally 
from the Group’s receivables from customers and loans 
Ƒelated2to2Ƒaǅ2mateƑials:

 ▪ The2FinanČial2iǊed2assets2aƑe2seČuƑed2ċǋ2undeƑlǋinĳ2
assets of those companies. Reference is made to note 8.
 ▪ The Receivables, prepayments and accrued income 

mainly consists of Trade Receivables which is secured 
by adequate credit insurance.

The2 GƑoupɫs2 eǊposuƑe2 to2 ČƑedit2 Ƒisk2 is2 inluenČed2
mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. However, management also considers the 
demographics of the Group’s customer base, including 
the default risk of the industry and country in which 
customers operate, as these factors may have an 
inluenČe2on2ČƑedit2Ƒisk.2DuƑinĳ2ȃȁȂȈ2and2ȃȁȂȇ2none2oĲ2
the Group’s revenue attributable to sales transactions 
with a single multinational customer exceeded 10% of 
the total revenue.

The Group has established a credit policy under 
which each new customer is analyzed individually 
for creditworthiness before the Group’s payment and 
delivery terms and conditions are offered. This is done 
in close cooperation with the Trade Finance banks and 
Credit insurance companies. Nevertheless, in principle 
insurance coverage is obtained for all Trade Receivables.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter 
diĲiČulties2 in2meetinĳ2 the2 oċliĳations2 assoČiated2ǅith2
its2 inanČial2 liaċilities2 that2 aƑe2 settled2 ċǋ2 deliǄeƑinĳ2
Čash2oƑ2anotheƑ2inanČial2asset.2The2GƑoupɫs2appƑoaČh2
to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that2 it2ǅill2 alǅaǋs2haǄe2 suĲiČient2 liƐuiditǋ2 to2meet2 its2
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 

risking damage to the Group’s reputation. With regards 
to its hedging activities, that primarily take place in 
the trading activities, the Company implemented a 
policy that hedging is only allowed under a tri-partite 
agreement in order to avoid margin calls.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that results out of changes in 
market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest 
rates, market prices and equity prices and will affect the 
GƑoupɫs2inČome2oƑ2the2Ǆalue2oĲ2its2holdinĳs2oĲ2inanČial2
instruments. The objective of market risk management 
is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
The Group buys and sells derivatives in order to 
manage market risks. All such transactions are carried 
out within the guidelines set by the Group. In principle 
all derivatives are accounted at FVTPL; if required and 
appropriate, the Group seeks to apply hedge accounting 
in2oƑdeƑ2to2manaĳe2Ǆolatilitǋ2in2pƑoit2oƑ2loss.

Currency risk
The Production facilities mainly enter in to euro 
agreements and therefore, the currency risk is 
insiĳniiČant.
The Trading activities are mainly exposed to the USD/
EUR exchange rate, as the trades are predominantly in 
USD and the reporting currency is in EUR. However, 
the currency risk is limited as contract deals are 
denominated in USD for both purchases and sales. 
PuƑČhases2 aƑe2 inanČed2 ċǋ2means2 oĲ2 tƑade2 inanČe2 in2
USD2as2ǅell.23s2the2puƑČhase,2sale2and2inanČinĳ2aƑe2all2
in USD, and as trading occurs in principle on a back-to-
back basis, the deals are naturally hedged.

Interest rates
To limit the interest rate risk, the Company decided to 
onlǋ2ĳiǄe2out2and2oċtain2loans2ǅith2a2iǊed2inteƑest2Ƒate.2
For overdraft facilities the risk is limited due to the short 
term of these facilities

Market price risk
The Production facilities mainly produce on the basis of 
tolling agreements. In these agreements the purchase 
of material is related to the sale and the price risk is 
mitigated.

The Company mainly enters into back-to-back deals, 
which means that the market price risk is naturally 
hedged. In case that that a trade is subject to price 
risk, this is hedged through adequate instruments. 
When instruments are required, the Company prepares 
a sensitivity analysis with regards to the impact of 
the changes in commodity price and (if applicable) 
the changes in foreign currency risks. Based on this 
analysis an adequate non speculative hedging strategy 
is applied.

At 31 December 2017, the Company has a limited 

number of hedging instruments, which are presented 

under Current liabilities and accruals. These instruments 

are designated as FVTPL and include trade related 

inanČial2 and2 phǋsiČal2 ĲoƑǅaƑd2 puƑČhase2 and2 sale2
commitments. Fair values are primarily determined 

using quoted market prices or standard pricing models 

using observable market inputs where available and 

aƑe2pƑesented2to2ƑeleČt2the2eǊpeČted2ĳƑoss2ĲutuƑe2Čash2
in/outloǅs.
It is the Group’s policy that transactions and activities 

in2 tƑade2Ƒelated2inanČial2 instƑuments2aƑe2netted.2Note2
that the Company only purchases futures and options. 

In principle the Company does not write futures and 

options.

Equity price risk

The Company invested into listed and unlisted shares 

of junior mining companies to secure its (future) off-

take contracts. These securities are presented in Note 

11 Securities. The Company is closely involved in these 

mining companies and monitors the progress on an 

on-going basis. Management is of the opinion that, by 

nature, the market index of junior mining companies 

increases when production starts.

NOTE 17. REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT

The2ƑemuneƑation2oĲ2keǋ2manaĳement2ɚdiƑeČtoƑ2and2CEOɛ2oĲ2the2leĳal2entitǋ2is2as2Ĳolloǅs:

The total loss in the consolidated statement of income 

amounts to EUR 413 thousand. All derivatives mature 

ǅithin2 the2 iƑst2 thƑee2months2 oĲ2 ȃȁȂȉ.2 The2Companǋ2

had instruments for a total of EUR 20 thousand at 31 

December 2017.

NOTE 16.

2017 EUR 1.000

Commmodity related contracts

Futures                                      20 

Options                                        -   

Total Current liabilities FVTPL                                      20 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

shoƑt-teƑm2emploǋee2ċeneits                              354                              354 

post-emploǋment2ċeneits                                  -                                    -   

otheƑ2lonĳ-teƑm2ċeneits                                  -                                    -   

Total                              354                              354 
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NOTE 18. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

NOTE 20. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

In 2017, the Company conducted various transactions with related parties.

In the course of business, the company is involved in 

discussions with business partners from time to time. 

These discussions may include the interpretation 

and compliance with the terms and conditions of 

agreements and may also include claims made by the 

company, as well as against the company. At year 

end, no claims against the company existed - if any - 

that were assessed to be probable, nor possible to be 

successful.

The related party liabilities of 2017 are mainly related 

to loans provided by minority shareholders or parties 

related to these minority shareholders. Those loans are 

provided at market conditions.

The Company has 848 shares in its parent company 

ɚȃȁȂȇ:2 ȉȅȉ2 shaƑesɛ2 that2 Čan2 ċe2 used2 in2 ĲutuƑe2
transactions and are included in the unlisted securities 

(reference is made to note 11). Transactions can take 

place between the Group and its related parties that 

are part of the Monaco Resources Group. Reference is 

made to Note 2.

The Company has provided several corporate 

guarantees to subsidiaries and related parties and in 

pƑinČiple2these2aƑe2all2Ƒelated2to2tƑade2inanČe.2

The2 possiċilitǋ2 oĲ2 anǋ2 Čash2 outloǅ2 ǅith2 ƑeĳaƑds2 to2
these guarantees is remote.

NOTE 19. GUARANTEES

NOTE 21. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

NOTE 22. LIST OF PRINCIPAL OPERATING, FINANCIAL AND INDUSTRIAL SUBSI-
DIARIES AND INVESTMENTS

In2ȃȁȂȈ2the2Ĳolloǅinĳ2keǋ2Čhanĳes2aƑe2eĲĲeČted:
 ▪ The company acquired Alu-Stockach GmbH

 ▪ The company sold Minerals and Mining Ltd.

 ▪ Yinchen B.V. is renamed into ET Investments B.V.

 ▪ Management Immuebles Vizcaya S.L. merged with Cable Recycling Industries S.L.

EUR 1.000 Note 2017 2016

Related parties <1yr 10                                  -                          18 260 

Total Receivables                                  -                          18 260 

Related parties <1yr      14                           4 901                              886 

Total Liabilities                           4 901                              886 

EUR 1.000 2017 2016

3udit2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements                                 440                                 414 

Other audit engagements                                     -                                     15 

Total professional service fees                                 440                                 429 

Name Country of incorporation Ownership interest

2017 2016

Consolidated (direct)

BAGR Non-Ferrous Group mbH Germany 100,0% 100,0%

Tennant Metals Group B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Metalcorp Finance B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Metalcorp Iron Ore and Mining B.V. The Netherlands 0,0% 100,0%

Steelcorp Industries B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Steelcom Group B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Tennant Metals UK Ltd. United Kingdom 100,0% 100,0%

Consolidated (indirect)

A&A Metals S.A. Switzerland 100,0% 100,0%

Alu Stockach GmbH Germany 47,0% 0,0%

BAGR Berliner Aluminiumwerk GmbH Germany 94,0% 94,0%

Cable Recycling Industries S.L. Spain 94,0% 94,0%

ET Investment B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Mining & Minerals Ltd. Sierra Leone 0,0% 79,9%

Management Inmuebles Vizcaya, S.L. Spain 0,0% 94,0%

MCG-SRR B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Norwich Sarl Luxembourg 94,0% 94,0%

NB Investments B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Nikolaidis Th. Bros. S.A. Greece 70,0% 70,0%

Orlyplein Investment B.V. The Netherlands 100,0% 100,0%

Société des Bauxites de Guinée S.A. Guinea 76,1% 76,1%

Steelcom Pipe International LLC USA 100,0% 100,0%

Steelcom Austria GesmbH Austria 100,0% 100,0%

Steelcom International GmbH Switzerland 100,0% 100,0%

Steelcom USA LLC USA 100,0% 100,0%

Steel and Commodities S.A.M. Monaco 100,0% 100,0%

Steel2and2Commodities2IċeƑiČa2S.L.  Spain 100,0% 100,0%

Steel and Commodities Singapore PTE Ltd. Singapore 100,0% 100,0%

Steel and Commodities India private Ltd. India 100,0% 100,0%

Steelcom Steel and Commodities GmbH Germany 100,0% 100,0%

Tennant Metals GmbH Germany 100,0% 100,0%

Tennant Metals (Pty) Ltd. Australia 100,0% 100,0%

Tennant Metals S.A.M. Monaco 100,0% 100,0%

Tennant Metals South Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa 100,0% 100,0%

SBG Bauxite and Alumina N.V. The Netherlands 94,0% 94,0%

Non-consolidated (Associates)

Kanabeam Zinc Ltd. Namibia 24,4% 24,4%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Reference is made to the independent auditor’s report on page 79.

No reportable matters

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The2pƑoit2eaƑned2 in2a2inanČial2ǋeaƑ2 is2at2 the2disposal2oĲ2 the2ĳeneƑal2meetinĳ.2The2Companǋ2maǋ2paǋ2diǄidends2
only insofar as its equity exceeds the paid-in and called-up capital plus the reserves the company is required by 

law to maintain. Dividends are paid after adoption of the annual accounts, if the annual accounts demonstrate that 

dividend payments are permissible. Dividends are due and payable immediately after they are declared, unless the 

ĳeneƑal2meetinĳ2iǊes2anotheƑ2date2in2the2ƑeleǄant2Ƒesolution.232shaƑeholdeƑɫs2Člaim2to2a2diǄidend2ǅill2lapse2iǄe2ǋeaƑs2
after the dividend becomes due and payable. The general meeting may resolve to pay interim dividends and to pay 

dividends from a reserve that the Company is not required by law to maintain. The general meeting may resolve to 

pay dividends in kind. The shares held by the Company in its own capital are to be disregarded in the calculation of 

the amount of dividend to be paid on shares. 

In2aČČoƑdanČe2ǅith2the2Čonditions2oĲ2the2ċonds2ɚsee2Note2Ȃȅ2to2the2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statementsɛ2the2diǄidend2
is limited to 50%.

APPROPRIATION OF RESULTS

The Company-only annual report of 2016 was approved in the General Meeting of Shareholders. The General 

Meeting of Shareholders has determined that the appropriation of result in accordance with the proposal being made 

to add the result of 2016 to the Other Reserves.

APPROPRIATION OF RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2016

OTHER INFORMATION

The2BoaƑd2oĲ2DiƑeČtoƑs2pƑoposes2to2tƑansĲeƑ2the2Ƒesult2oǄeƑ2the2inanČial2ǋeaƑ2ȃȁȂȈ2to2the2otheƑ2ƑeseƑǄes.2The2inanČial2
statements2do2not2ǋet2ƑeleČt2this2pƑoposal.

PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF RESULT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2017

METALCORP GROUP

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR'S
REPORT
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OUR OPINION

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

THE BASIS FOR OUR OPINION 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 

To:2the2GeneƑal2Meetinĳ2oĲ2ShaƑeholdeƑs2oĲ2MetalČoƑp2GƑoup2B.V.

In2ouƑ2opinion2the2aČČompanǋinĳ2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statements2ĳiǄe2a2tƑue2and2ĲaiƑ2Ǆieǅ2oĲ2the2inanČial2position2
oĲ2MetalČoƑp2GƑoup2B.V.2 as2 at2 ȄȂ2DeČemċeƑ2 ȃȁȂȈ2 and2 oĲ2 its2 Ƒesults2 and2 Čash2 loǅs2 ĲoƑ2 the2 ǋeaƑ2 then2 ended2 in2
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We2 haǄe2 audited2 the2 aČČompanǋinĳ2 inanČial2 statements2 ĲoƑ2 the2 ǋeaƑ2 endinĳ2 ȃȁȂȈ2 oĲ2 MetalČoƑp2 GƑoup2 B.V.2
3msteƑdam2ɚɪthe2Companǋɫɛ.2The2inanČial2statements2inČlude2the2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statements2oĲ2MetalČoƑp2
GƑoup2B.V.2and2its2suċsidiaƑies2ɚtoĳetheƑ:2ɪthe2GƑoupɫɛ2and2the2Čompanǋ2inanČial2statements.

The2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statements2ČompƑise:

 ▪ Consolidated2statement2oĲ2pƑoit2oƑ2loss
 ▪ Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income

 ▪ Consolidated2statement2oĲ2inanČial2position
 ▪ Consolidated2statement2oĲ2Čash2loǅs
 ▪ Consolidated statement of changes in equity

 ▪ Notes2to2the2inanČial2statements

The2inanČial2ƑepoƑtinĳ2ĲƑameǅoƑk2that2has2ċeen2applied2in2the2pƑepaƑation2oĲ2the2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statements2
are International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Keǋ2audit2matteƑs2aƑe2those2matteƑs2that,2in2ouƑ2pƑoĲessional2judĳement,2ǅeƑe2oĲ2most2siĳniiČanČe2in2the2audit2oĲ2the2
inanČial2statements.2We2haǄe2ČommuniČated2the2keǋ2audit2matteƑs2to2the2ĳeneƑal2meetinĳ2oĲ2MetalČoƑp2GƑoup2B.V.,2
ċut2these2aƑe2not2a2ČompƑehensiǄe2ƑeleČtion2oĲ2all2matteƑs2that2ǅeƑe2identiied2ċǋ2ouƑ2audit2and2that2ǅe2disČussed.2
We described the key audit matters and included a summary of the audit procedures we performed on those matters.

The2keǋ2audit2matteƑs2ǅeƑe2addƑessed2 in2the2ČonteǊt2oĲ2ouƑ2audit2oĲ2 the2inanČial2statements2as2a2ǅhole,2and2 in2
ĲoƑminĳ2ouƑ2opinion2theƑeon.2We2do2not2pƑoǄide2a2sepaƑate2opinion2on2these2matteƑs2oƑ2on2speČiiČ2elements2oĲ2the2
inanČial2statements.23nǋ2Čomments2ǅe2make2on2the2Ƒesults2oĲ2ouƑ2pƑoČeduƑes2should2ċe2Ƒead2in2this2ČonteǊt.

Acquisitions, Disposals and valuations

The company has disclosed an amount of EUR 89,16 

million  assumed to be mineral rights under property 

plant and equipment. An amount of EUR 35,12 million 

is reported as intangible assets. The corresponding 

goodwills, contract-based-intangibles and mineral 

rights are subject to the future performances of the 

companies, industries, commodity prices, projects 

as well as foreign exchange rates. This requires 

management to closely monitor the carrying values. 

In 2017 no impairments were noted.

We reviewed management's assessment of the 

indicators of any impairment and challenged 

siĳniiČant2 undeƑlǋinĳ2 assumptions.2 FuƑtheƑmoƑe,2
we assessed the appropriateness of management's 

recoverable value models, which included the 

inheƑent2 model2 inputs2 and2 siĳniiČant2 assumptions.2
We2Čhallenĳed2the2siĳniiČant2inputs2and2assumptions2
used in impairment testing for intangible assets . 

We also assessed the adequacy and completeness 

oĲ2 impaiƑment2 Ƒelated2 disČlosuƑes2 in2 the2 inanČial2
statements, including the key assumptions used as 

well as the sensitivity.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Key Audit Matter and description Our audit response on Key Audit Matter

The Company has expanded through the years by 

acquiring new companies. In 2017, new acquisitions 

were completed. There was an investigation on the 

valuation of these acquisitions of 2017 following the 

requirements of IFRS 3.94 and the measurement 

period of business combinations.

Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets

The2manaĳement2is2Ƒesponsiċle2ĲoƑ:

 ▪ the2 pƑepaƑation2 and2 ĲaiƑ2 pƑesentation2 oĲ2 the2 inanČial2 statements2 in2 aČČoƑdanČe2 ǅith2 EU-IFRS2 and2 ĲoƑ2 the2
preparation of the directors’ report, and for

 ▪ suČh2 inteƑnal2 ČontƑol2 as2 the2manaĳement2 deteƑmines2 is2 neČessaƑǋ2 to2 enaċle2 the2 pƑepaƑation2 oĲ2 the2 inanČial2
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

3s2paƑt2oĲ2the2pƑepaƑation2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements,2the2manaĳement2is2Ƒesponsiċle2ĲoƑ2assessinĳ2the2Čompanǋɫs2
aċilitǋ2to2Čontinue2as2a2ĳoinĳ2ČonČeƑn.2Based2on2the2inanČial2ƑepoƑtinĳ2ĲƑameǅoƑks2mentioned,2the2manaĳement2
should2pƑepaƑe2the2inanČial2statements2usinĳ2the2ĳoinĳ2ČonČeƑn2ċasis2oĲ2aČČountinĳ2unless2the2manaĳement2eitheƑ2
intends to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The management 

should2disČlose2eǄents2and2ČiƑČumstanČes2that2maǋ2Čast2siĳniiČant2douċt2on2the2Čompanǋɫs2aċilitǋ2to2Čontinue2as2a2
ĳoinĳ2ČonČeƑn2in2the2inanČial2statements.

The2supeƑǄisoƑǋ2ċoaƑd2is2Ƒesponsiċle2ĲoƑ2oǄeƑseeinĳ2the2Čompanǋɫs2inanČial2ƑepoƑtinĳ2pƑoČess.

We performed a detailed analysis on the valuations 

and audited the validity and completeness of the 

stated positions. Furthermore, we assessed whether 

the disclosures were made in accordance with IFRS 3 

business combinations.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibility under those 

standaƑds2 is2ĲuƑtheƑ2desČƑiċed2 in2the2seČtion2 ɪOuƑ2Ƒesponsiċilities2ĲoƑ2the2audit2oĲ2the2inanČial2statementsɫ2oĲ2ouƑ2
report.

We are independent of Metalcorp Group B.V. in accordance with the IFAC Code on independence requirements. 

Furthermore, we have complied with the §§ 43, 49, 55 WPO; §§ 2f, 20ff (statue for German Auditors) and §§ 319 

HGB (German Commercial Code).

We2ċelieǄe2that2the2audit2eǄidenČe2ǅe2haǄe2oċtained2is2suĲiČient2and2appƑopƑiate2to2pƑoǄide2a2ċasis2ĲoƑ2ouƑ2opinion.

The2Čompanǋ2suČČessĲullǋ2ƑeinanČed2the2Bond2ǅhiČh2
will be due in 2018 by successful placement of a new 

Bond. To the Bondholders of the former Bond there 

was given the opportunity to exchange the old Bond 

for the new Bond.

We perform procedures to assess the adequacy and 

completeness of the liabilities of the Bonds. In addition 

we perform audit procedures on the existence and 

presentation of the cash position of the Bonds.

ReinanČe2oĲ2Bond
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In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report we have further set out in this appendix our responsibilities for 

the2audit2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements2and2eǊplained2ǅhat2an2audit2inǄolǄes.

The2auditoƑɫs2Ƒesponsiċilities2ĲoƑ2the2audit2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements2

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit in 

accordance with International Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our 

oċjeČtiǄes2 aƑe2 to2 oċtain2 Ƒeasonaċle2 assuƑanČe2aċout2ǅhetheƑ2 the2inanČial2 statements2 as2 a2ǅhole2 aƑe2 ĲƑee2 ĲƑom2
mateƑial2misstatement,2ǅhetheƑ2due2to2ĲƑaud2oƑ2eƑƑoƑ.2OuƑ2audit2Čonsisted,2amonĳ2otheƑs2oĲ:

 ▪ IdentiĲǋinĳ2and2assessinĳ2the2Ƒisks2oĲ2mateƑial2misstatement2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements,2ǅhetheƑ2due2to2ĲƑaud2
or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that 

is2suĲiČient2and2appƑopƑiate2to2pƑoǄide2a2ċasis2ĲoƑ2ouƑ2opinion.2The2Ƒisk2oĲ2not2deteČtinĳ2a2mateƑial2misstatement2
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 

omissions, misrepresentations, or the intentional override of internal control.

 ▪ Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

company’s internal control.

 ▪ Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the management.

 ▪ Concluding on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and 

based on the audit evidence obtained, concluding whether a material uncertainty exists related to events and/or 

Čonditions2that2maǋ2Čast2siĳniiČant2douċt2on2the2Čompanǋɫs2aċilitǋ2to2Čontinue2as2a2ĳoinĳ2ČonČeƑn.2IĲ2ǅe2ČonČlude2
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 

in2the2inanČial2statements2oƑ,2iĲ2suČh2disČlosuƑes2aƑe2inadeƐuate,2to2modiĲǋ2ouƑ2opinion.2OuƑ2ČonČlusions2aƑe2ċased2on2
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report and are made in the context of our opinion on the 

inanČial2statements2as2a2ǅhole.2HoǅeǄeƑ,2ĲutuƑe2eǄents2oƑ2Čonditions2maǋ2Čause2the2Čompanǋ2to2Čease2to2Čontinue2
as a going concern. 

 ▪ EǄaluatinĳ2the2oǄeƑall2pƑesentation,2stƑuČtuƑe2and2Čontent2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements,2inČludinĳ2the2disČlosuƑes,2
and2eǄaluatinĳ2ǅhetheƑ2the2inanČial2statements2ƑepƑesent2the2undeƑlǋinĳ2tƑansaČtions2and2eǄents2in2a2manneƑ2that2
achieves fair presentation.

ConsideƑinĳ2ouƑ2ultimate2Ƒesponsiċilitǋ2ĲoƑ2the2opinion2on2the2Čompanǋɫs2Čonsolidated2inanČial2statements2ǅe2aƑe2
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. In this context, we have determined 

the nature and extent of the audit procedures for components of the group to ensure that we performed enough 

ǅoƑk2to2ċe2aċle2to2ĳiǄe2an2opinion2on2the2inanČial2statements2as2a2ǅhole.2DeteƑmininĳ2ĲaČtoƑs2aƑe2the2ĳeoĳƑaphiČ2
stƑuČtuƑe2oĲ2the2ĳƑoup,2the2siĳniiČanČe2and/oƑ2Ƒisk2pƑoile2oĲ2ĳƑoup2entities2oƑ2aČtiǄities,2the2aČČountinĳ2pƑoČesses2and2
controls, and the industry in which the group operates. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit 

oƑ2ƑeǄieǅ2oĲ2inanČial2inĲoƑmation2oƑ2speČiiČ2ċalanČes2ǅas2ČonsideƑed2neČessaƑǋ.

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit2and2siĳniiČant2audit2indinĳs,2inČludinĳ2anǋ2siĳniiČant2deiČienČies2in2inteƑnal2ČontƑol2that2ǅe2identiĲǋ2duƑinĳ2
our audit.

From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine those matters that were of most 

siĳniiČanČe2in2the2audit2oĲ2the2inanČial2statements2oĲ2the2ČuƑƑent2peƑiod2and2aƑe2theƑeĲoƑe2the2keǋ2audit2matteƑs.2We2
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 

or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest.

APPENDIX TO OUR AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017 
OF METALCORP GROUP B.V.

Baker Tilly GmbH & Co. KG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft (Düsseldorf)

Charlottenstraße 68

10117 Berlin

We were appointed as auditors of Metalcorp Group B.V. on December 6th, 2017 by engagement letter dated on 

December 6th, 2017.

We2ƑepoƑt2that2the2diƑeČtoƑsɫ2ƑepoƑt,2to2the2eǊtent2ǅe2Čan2assess,2is2Čonsistent2ǅith2the2inanČial2statements.

OUR REPORT ON THE DIRECTORS’ REPORT & THE OTHER INFORMATION 

OUR APPOINTMENT

Berlin, April 9th 2018

Stephan Martens

Partner

Detlef Schröder

Partner 

We2ƑepoƑt2that2the2diƑeČtoƑsɫ2ƑepoƑt,2to2the2eǊtent2ǅe2Čan2assess,2is2Čonsistent2ǅith2the2inanČial2statements.
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1. Scope

(1) These engagement terms are applicable to contracts between Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(German Public Auditors] or Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften [German Public Audit 

Firms] (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Wirtschaftsprüfer) and their clients 

for audits, consulting and other engagements to the extent that something else has 

not been expressly agreed to in writing or is not compulsory due to legal requirements.

(2) If, in an individual case, as an exception contractual relations have also been 

established between the Wirtschaftsprüfer and persons other than the client, the 

provisions of No. 9 below also apply to such third parties.

2. Scope and performance of the engagement

(1) Subject of the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s engagement is the performance of agreed 

services - not a particular economic result. The engagement is performed in 

accordance with the Grundsätze ordungsmässiger Berufsausübung [Standards 

of Proper Professional Conduct]. The Wirtschaftsprüfer is entitled to use qualiied 
persons to conduct the engagement.

(2) The application of foreign law requires – except for inancial attestation 
engagements – an express written agreement.

(3) The engagement does not extend – to the extent it is not directed thereto 

– to an examination of the issue of whether the requirements of tax law or special 

regulations, such as, for example, laws on price controls, laws limiting competition and 

Bewirtschaftungsrecht [laws controlling certain aspects of speciic business operations] 
were observed; the same applies to the determination as to whether subsidies, 

allowances or other beneits may be claimed. The performance of an engagement 
encompasses auditing procedures aimed at the detection of the defalcation of books 

and record and other irregularities only if during the conduct of audits grounds therefor 

arise or if this has been expressly agreed to in writing.

(4) If the legal position changes subsequent to the issuance of the inal professional 
statement, the Wirtschaftsprüfer is not obliged to inform the client of changes or any 

consequenses resulting therefrom.

3. The client’s duty to inform

(1) The client must ensure that the Wirtschaftsprüfer – even without his special 

request – is provided, on a timely basis, with all supporting documents and records 

required for and is informed of all events and circumstances which may be signiicant 
to the performance of the engagement. This also applies to those supporting 

documents and records, events and circumstances which irst become known during 
the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s work.

(2) Upon the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s request, the client must conirm in a written 
statement drafted by the Wirtschaftsprüfer that the supporting documents and records 

and the information and explanations provided are complete.

4. Ensuring Independence 

The client guarantees to refrain from everything which may endanger the independence 

of the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s staff. This particularly applies to offers of employment and 

offers to undertake engagements on one’s own account.

5. Reporting and verbal information 

If the Wirtschaftsprüfer is required to present the results of his work in writing, only 

that written presentation is authoritative. For audit engagements the long-form report 

should be submitted in writing to the extent that nothing else has been agreed to. 

Verbal statements and information provided by the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s staff beyond the 

engagement agreed to are never binding.

6. Protection of the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s intellectual property

The client guarantees that expert opinions, organizational charts, drafts sketches, 

schedules and calculations – especially quantity and cost computations – prepared 

by the Wirtschaftsprüfer within the scope of the engagement will be used only for his 

own purposes.

7. Transmission of the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s professional statement

The transmission of a Wirtschaftsprüfer’s professional statements (long-form reports, 

export opinions and the like) to a third party requires the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s written 

consent to the extent that the permission to transmit to a certain third party does not 

result from the engagement terms.

The Wirtschaftsprüfer is liable (within the limits of No. 9) towards third parties only if the 

prerequisites of the irst sentence are given.

The use of the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s professional statements for promotional purposes is 

not permitted; an infringement entitles the Wirtschaftsprüfer to immediately cancel all 

engagements not yet conducted for the client.

8. Correction of deiciencies

Where there are deiciencies, the client is entitled to subsequent fulilment [of the 
contract]. The client may demand a reduction in fees or the cancellation of the contract 

only for the failure to subsequently fulil [the contract] ; if the engagement was awarded 
by a person carrying on a commercial business as part of that commercial business, 

a government-owned legal person under public law or a special government-owned 

fund under public law, the client may demand the cancellation of the contract only if 

the services rendered are of no interest to him due to the failure to subsequently fulil 
[the contract]. No. 9 applies to the extent that claims for damages exist beyond this.

The client must assert his claim for the correction of deiciencies in writing without 
delay. Claims pursuant to the irst paragraph not arising from an intentional tort cease 
to be enforceable one year after the commencement of the statutory time limit for 

enforcement.

Obvious deiciencies, such as typing and arithmetical errors and formelle Mängel 
[deiciencies, associated with technicalities] contained in Wirtschaftsprüfer’s 
professional statements (long-form reports, expert opinions and the like) may be 

corrected – and also be applicable versus third parties- by the Wirtschaftsprüfer 

at any time. Errors which may call into question the conclusions contained in the 

Wirtschaftsprüfer’s professional statements entitle the Wirtschaftsprüfer to withdraw 

– also versus third parties – such statements. In the cases noted the Wirtschaftsprüfer 

should irst hear the client, if possible.

9. Liability

(1) The liability limitation of § [“Article”] 323 (2) [“paragraph”2”] HGB 

[“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial Code] applies to statutory audits required 

by law.

(2) Liability for negligence; An individual case of damages

If neither No. 1 is applicable nor a regulations exists in an individual case, pursuant 

to § 54a (1) no. 2 WPO [“Wirtschaftsprüferordnung”; Law regulating the Profession 

of Wirtschaftsprüfer] the liability of the Wirtschaftsprüfer for claims of compensatory 

damages of any kind – except for damages resulting from injury to life, body or health 

– for an individual case of damages resulting from negligence is limited to € 4 million 

this also applies if liability to a person other than the client should be established. 

An individual case of damages also exists in relation to a uniform damage arising 

from a number of breaches of duty. The individual case of damages encompasses all 

consequences from a breach of duty without taking into account whether the damages 

occurred in one year or in a number of successive years. In this case multiple acts 

or omissions of acts based on a similar source of error or on a source of error of 

an equivalent nature are deemed to be a uniform breach of duty if the matters in 

question are legally or economically connected to one another. In this event the claim 

against the Wirtschaftsprüfer is limited to € 5 million. The limitation to the ivefold of 
the minimum amount insured does not apply to compulsory audits required by law.

(3) Preclusive deadlines

A compensatory damages claim may only be lodged within a preclusive deadline of 

one year of the rightful claimant having become aware of the damage and of the event 

giving rise to the claim – at the very latest, however, within 5 years subsequent to the 

event giving rise to the claim. The claim expires if legal action is not taken within a six 

month deadline subsequent to the written refusal of acceptance of the indemnity and 

the client was informed of this consequence.

The right to assert the bar of the preclusive deadline remains unaffected. Sentences 1 

to 3 also apply to legally required audits with statutory liability limits.
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[Translator’s notes are in square brackets]

General Engagement Terms
for

Wirtschaftsprüfer and Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaften
[German Public Auditors an Public Audit Firms]

as of January 1, 2002

This is an English translation of the German text, which is the sole authoritative version 10. Supplementary provisions for audit engagements 

(1) A subsequent amendment of abridgement of the inancial statements or 
management report audited by a Wirtschaftsprüfer and accompanied by an auditor’s 

report requires the written consent of the Wirtschaftsprüfer even if these documents 

are not published. If the Wirtschaftsprüfer has not issued an auditor’s report, a 

reference to the audit conducted by the Wirtschaftsprüfer in the management report or 

elsewhere speciied for the general public is permitted only with the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s 
written consent and using the wording authorized by him.

(2) If the Wirtschaftsprüfer revokes the auditor’s report, it may no longer be used. 

If the client has already made use of the auditor’s report, he must announce its 

revocation upon the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s request.

(3) The client has a right to 5 copies of the long-form report. Additional copies will 

be charged separately.

11. Supplementary provisions for assistance with tax matters 

(1) When advising on an individual tax issue as well as when furnishing continuous 

tax advice, the Wirtschaftsprüfer is entitled to assume that the facts provided by the 

client – especially numerical disclosures – are correct and complete; this also applies 

to bookkeeping engagements. Nevertheless, he is obliged to inform the client of any 

errors he has discovered.

(2) The tax consulting engagement does not encompass procedures required to 

meet deadlines, unless the Wirtschaftsprüfer has explicitly accepted the engagement 

for this. In this event the client must provide the Wirtschaftsprüfer, on a timely basis, all 

supporting documents and records –especially tax assessments – material to meeting 

the deadlines, so the Wirtschaftsprüfer has an appropriate time period available to 

work therewith.

(3) In the absence of other written agreements, continuous tax advice encompasses 

the following work during the contract period:

 a) preparation of annual tax returns for income tax, corporation tax and 

business tax, as well as net worth tax returns on the basis of the annual inancial 
statements and other schedules and evidence required for tax purposes to be 

submitted by the client.

 b) examinations of tax assessments in relation to the taxes mentioned in (a)

 c) negotiations with tax authorities in connection with the returns and 

assessments mentioned in (a) and (b)

 d) participation in tax audits and evaluation of the results of tax audits with 

respect to the taxes mentioned in (a)

 e) participation in Einspruchs- und Beschwerdeverfahren [appeals and 

complaint procedures] with respect to the taxes mentioned in (a).

In the afore-mentioned work the Wirtschaftsprüfer takes material published legal 

decisions and administrative interpretations into account.

(4) If the Wirtschaftsprüfer receives a ixed fee for continuous tax advice, in the 
absence of other written agreements the work mentioned under paragraph 3 (d) and 

(e) will be charge separately.

(5) Services with respect to special individual issues for income tax, corporate tax, 

business tax, valuation procedures for property and net worth taxation and net worth 

tax as well as all issues in relation to sales tax, wages tax, other taxes and dues require 

a special engagement. This also applies to:

 a) the treatment of nonrecurring tax matters, e.g. in the ield of estate tax, capital 
transactions tax, real estate acquisition tax

 b) participation and representation in proceedings before tax and administrative 

courts and in criminal proceedings with respect to taxes, and

 c) the granting of advice and work with respect to expert opinions in connection 

with conversions of legal form, mergers, capital increases and reductions, 

inancial reorganizations, admission and retirement of partners of shareholders, 
sale of a business, liquidations and the like.

(6) To the extent that the annual sales tax return is accepted as additional work, this 

does not include the review of any special accounting prerequisites nor of the issue as 

to whether all potential legal sales tax reductions have been claimed. No guarantee is 

assumed for the completeness of the supporting documents and records to validate 

the deduction of the input tax credit.

12. Conidentiality towards third parties and data security 

(1) Pursuant to the law the Wirtschaftsprüfer is obliged to treat all facts that he 

comes to know in connection with his work as conidential, irrespective of whether 
these concern the client himself or his business associations, unless the client 

releases him from this obligation.

(2) The Wirtschaftsprüfer may only release long-form reports, expert opinions and 

other written statements on the results of his work to third parties with the consent of 

his client.

(3) The Wirtschaftsprüfer is entitled – within the purposes stipulated by the client 

– to process personal data entrusted to him or allow them to be processed by third 

parties.

13. Default of acceptance and lack of cooperation on the part of the client 

If the client defaults in accepting the service offered by the Wirtschaftsprüfer or if 

the client does not provide the assistance incumbent on him pursuant to No. 3 or 

otherwise, the Wirtschaftsprüfer is entitled to cancel the contract immediately. The 

Wirtschaftsprüfer’s right to compensation for additional expenses as well as for 

damages caused by the default or the lack of assistance is not affected, even if the 

Wirtschaftsprüfer does not exercise his right to cancel.

14. Remuneration 

(1) In addition to his claims for fees or remuneration, the Wirtschaftsprüfer is 

entitled to reimbursement of his outlays; slaes tax will be billed separately. He may 

claim appropriate advances for remuneration and reimbursement of outlays and make 

the rendering of his services dependent upon the complete satisfaction of his claims. 

Multiple clients awarding engagements are jointly and severally liable.

(2) Any set off against the Wirtschaftsprüfer’s claims for remuneration and 

reimbursement of outlays is permitted only for undisputed claims or claims determined 

to be legally valid.

15. Retention and return of supporting documentation and records

(1) The Wirtschaftsprüfer retains, for ten years, the supporting documents and 

records in connection with the completion of the engagement – that had been provided 

to him and that he has prepared himself – as well as the correspondence with respect 

to the engagement.

(2) After the settlement of his claims arising from the engagement, the 

Wirtschaftsprüfer, upon the request of the client, must return all supporting 

documents and records obtained from him or for him by reason of his work on the 

engagement. This does not, however, apply to correspondence exchanged between 

the Wirtschaftsprüfer and his client and to any documents of which the client already 

has the original or a copy. The Wirtschaftsprüfer may prepare and retain copies or 

photocopies of supporting documents and records which he returns to the client.

16. Applicable law

Only German law applies to the engagement, its conduct and any claims arising 

therefrom.
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